
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Finance, Commercial 
Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability 

Committee
Agenda

Wednesday 30 January 2019
7.00 pm

Committee Room 1 - Hammersmith Town Hall

MEMBERSHIP

Administration: Opposition
Councillor PJ Murphy (Chair)
Councillor Patricia Quigley
Councillor Fiona Smith
Councillor Guy Vincent

Councillor Donald Johnson

Co-optees
Tony Boys
Erik Hohenstein
Chris Littmoden
Judith Worthy

CONTACT OFFICER: Kayode Adewumi
Head of Governance and Scrutiny
Governance and Scrutiny
: 0208 753 2499
E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk

mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk


Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy

Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building.

Date Issued: 22 January 2019

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee
Agenda

30 January 2019

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES 5 - 13
To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign the 
minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2018.

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

If a Committee member has any prejudicial or personal interest in a particular 
item they should declare the existence and nature of the interest at the 
commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The 
Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the 
matter is discussed and any vote taken unless a dispensation has been 
obtained from the Standards Committee. 

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the meeting 
whilst the matter is under consideration unless the disability has been 
removed by the Standards Committee.

4.  2019 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) 14 - 92
This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered 
by this Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is 
also provided on any proposed changes in fees and charges.

5.  REFUSE, RECYCLING AND STREET CLEANSING CONTRACT 
OVERVIEW 

93 - 98

This report provides an overview on waste collection and street 
cleansing contract for the borough.

6.  COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 99 - 101
The Committee is requested to consider the items within the Work 
Programme attached as Appendix A to this report and suggest any 
amendments or additional topics to be included in the future.

7.  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
The following dates are proposed: 



 Tuesday 12th February 2019
 Wednesday 27th March 2019



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

. London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee
Minutes

Wednesday 14 November 2018

PRESENT

Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Patricia Quigley, 
Fiona Smith, Guy Vincent and Donald Johnson

Co-opted members: Tony Boys, Erik Hohenstein, Chris Littmoden, Judith Worthy 

Other Councillors: Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services

Officers: Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director - Finance and Governance), Mark 
Grimley (Director of Corporate Services), Emily Hill (Assistant Director - Corporate 
Finance), Carol Yorrick (Head of HR Operations), Lesley Bell (Practice Manager),  
Joanne Woodward (Chief Planner and Economic Development Officer), Prakash 
Daryanani (Head of Finance, Social Care) and Kayode Adewumi (Head of 
Governance & Scrutiny)

8. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 October 2018 were approved and signed 
by the Chair.

9. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

No apologies for absence were submitted.

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made.

11. SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS - UPDATE 

The meeting was informed that since 2014 the Council had negotiated over 
£310 million worth of funding through developer contributions as part of new 
developments in the borough.  This includes financial as well as non-financial 
contributions received through section 106 (s106) agreements, along with the 
Community Infrastructure Levy.

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Members considered a report which sets out the role of s106 agreements and 
the use of the funds.  Joanne Woodward (Chief Planner and Economic 
Development Officer) gave an overview of those s106 receipts agreed as 
financial contributions per agreement, and the current position regarding 
overall expenditure and commitments for such types of agreement.  Members 
also considered further additional information contained in a tabled 
supplementary appendix 1(3) which detailed information on the top 20 largest 
s106 agreements.

Judith Worthy asked why had the funds been sitting in the s106 account for so 
long.  Joanne responded that some funds had only just been received but there 
are currently over 900 heads of terms where financial contributions have been 
received and officers are reconciling the figures to understand why and improve 
the data produced. The meeting noted there are 3 broad categories of s106 
contributions received: 

 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s106 agreement
 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s. 106 

agreement but with geographical constraints
 for a general purpose defined and described in the s106 agreement but 

with no borough geographical constraints.

Members noted the typical obligations agreed by the Council which were 
summarised in Appendix 2 of the report. 

Councillor Murphy asked how much cash is earmarked or committed.  It was 
reported that there is £67 million of other commitments as part of a total of 
£74 million earmarked commitments and which are subject to the 
reconciliation process currently underway.

Judith Worthy asked would a substantial piece of work be undertaken on CIL 
as well?  Hitesh responded that a substantial piece of work was not required 
as CIL can easily be reconciled.  However, the same governance applies to 
CIL and s106.  CIL can be spent only on infrastructure necessary to support 
growth in the borough.

Councillor Quigley asked for clarification of admin charges incurred and which 
schools can we fund through s106.  Joanne noted that the charges paid cover 
the Council’s staff responsible for managing the s106 programme and the 
Council only funds LA schools. 

Councillor Vincent noted that the £50 million balance of s106 funding and 
inquired where the money was held, does interest accrue and what was the 
interest used for.  Emily Hill (Assistant Director – Corporate Finance) stated 
that the money was held and invested alongside other Council funds and 
interest was allocated to each project annually. 

Councillor Johnson noted that a major data cleansing exercise was required 
as some of the projects listed such as the Hurlingham Retail Park would 
never be developed nor the future receipts received.  Joanne agreed that 
some projects would not be built and therefore the agreed receipts wouldn’t 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

be received, or the developer or Council might want to renegotiate the terms.  
The spreadsheet is a live document which would be updated.

Emily noted that the scheduled provided a complete picture of anticipated 
receipts.  Corporate Finance and Planning have identified the risk level on 
each agreement for financial planning purposes.  The Council can use non-
specific s106 funds for other Council purposes if cleared by legal.

Chris Littmoden inquired that if all outstanding balances were known, why is 
the information not revised annually and the obligations monitored by officers 
to ensure that nothing expires.  Officers noted that it was a complex 
programme and planners have been monitoring the obligations on an ongoing 
basis to ensure that none expired.

Eric Hohenstein asked if there were any plans to bring s106, CIL and 
highways obligations together.  He suggested that officers should present the 
information better to show residents how we have been using these funds to 
transform the borough.  This would be a good avenue to engage them in the 
budget setting process and consult them on how we prioritise spend. 

Action by Joanne Woodward (Chief Planner and Economic Development 
Officer) and Emily Hill (Assistant Director - Corporate Finance)

Tony Boys congratulated officers on getting the detail to the Committee.  He 
asked how often the Committee would be updated.  Joanne noted that 
officers would go away and consider how often the information would be 
reported back to Committee.  

Action by Joanne Woodward (Chief Planner and Economic Development 
Officer)

Chris noted the huge amounts of expected income and congratulated officers 
who negotiated these sums.  Tony Boys asked how does the Council monitor 
when the future receipts are due?  And when does it change from £250 
million of promises to £250 million of money available to spend? Hitesh stated 
that finance officers and planners are working closely to monitor receipts and 
expenditure with the aid of a software package.  

Councillor Vincent was of the view that the minutes of the s106 Officer Board 
should be published.  Officers noted that the Board scrutinise and 
recommends projects to Cabinet Members for approval.  Members’ decisions 
are publicly available.  

The Committee requested for the following updates and reports:

 Future receipts vs Committed funds update
 Update on earmarked funds
 Ideas on how to involve the public in setting the budget and prioritising 

spend
 Report on s106 community benefits 
 Update on s106 projects over £1 million

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

The Committee thanked the officers for the report and noted that they are 
more assured that there is now more rigour in monitoring s106 funds which 
will facilitate better decision making.

12. RUTHLESSLY FINANCIALLY EFFICIENT 

Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance) presented a 
report setting out the Council’s 5 priorities which includes being ‘ruthlessly 
financially efficient’ (RFE).  The document had been approved by SLT, Cabinet 
and passed down the organisation.  The Chief Executive and Strategic Director 
of Finance and Governance have issued a strategic approach to all directors 
and managers, sharing expectations, and setting out the standards that must 
to be followed.  All officers and Cabinet members are expected to adhere to the 
expectations and standards which reflects the Council’s Financial Regulations.

Chris Littmoden welcomed the approach and it was agreed that post 
implementation reviews(PIRs) will take place in future.

Action by Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance)

Councillor Vincent asked how could officers demonstrate the effect of RFE 
upon the business, what is audit’s role and had this been pushed to schools?  
Hitesh noted that its introduction had caused disruptions.  Officers are more 
aware of financial regulations and following them. There is better governance 
of projects.  Lesley Bell also explained how their day jobs had been impacted 
by RFE.  He would check with David Hughes and Rhian Davies on how this 
could be extended to schools.

Action by Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance)

Hitesh noted that this document was one of a suite of 5 key documents which 
had been produced by the Council.  The Committee requested for the other 4 
documents noted in the document to be circulated.

Action by Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance)

Tony was of the view that the documents was thin on income generation and 
asked how much income had been generated.  Committee requested for a 
paper on income generation.

Action by Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of Adult Social Care and PSR)

Hitesh noted that any use of reserves had to be signed off by the Chief 
Executive and himself. 

Councillor Johnson observed that there was a massive communication role in 
getting the message across to staff.  He did not feel a sense of the leadership 
trying to change human behaviour.  The document seems to be heavily process 
oriented.  Hitesh responded that lunchtime briefing sessions had been held with 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

newsletters and intranet messages to staff.  The Council had also asked for 
ideas from staff. 

The meeting was informed that with the introduction of IBC, the Council was 
reviewing the number of budget holders.  Budget accountability was currently 
at a service level.  Eric Hohenstein agreed to send his comments to Hitesh 
direct.

Action by Eric Hohenstein (Co-opted Member)

Councillor Murphy asked if staff could change their behaviour to ensure RFE is 
successfully implemented and what support was given to officers to draft 
business cases.  Hitesh said that finance officers are sitting within the 
businesses to support the business but reporting to Hitesh.  The project 
management office had drafted templates for officers to use.  Business cases 
are considered by SLT, DMTs and the Finance Board before being 
recommended to Members. He agreed that training for writing business cases 
was needed.

Councillor Johnson asked why was the threshold set at £5 million?  Hitesh 
noted that £5 million limit is local limit set by the Council. Only Full Council can 
agree any new spend over £5 million which is outside the agreed budget.

Councillor Murphy noted that co-production was not mentioned in the 
document. Judith asked for a large capital project to be brought to the 
committee for scrutiny.

Action by Relevant Service Director 

13. HR, PAYROLL AND FINANCE SERVICE TRANSITION PROGRAMME 

Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services) presented a report summarising 
the progress made and the key activities scheduled between now and 1st 
December 2018 – the go live of the new system.

We have been through a rigorous period of change using a tried and tested 
onboarding route.  We have worked closely with Hampshire County Council, 
Deloitte (their onboarding partner) and BT to ensure all stakeholders are 
committed to a successful outcome. The organisational structure has been 
rebuilt and we have 100% reconciled records.  We have completed System 
Integration Testing (SIT) and User Acceptance Testing (UAT) and satisfied the 
entry/exit criteria.  The key challenges are change management and paying 
everyone correctly on the 1st payroll run.  As part of our learning from Agresso, 
we have put in place a 3 months remediation plan to resolve any issues before 
the project team shuts down.

The Business Development team had produced a communications and 
engagement strategy, a change management plan, a stakeholder assessment, 
a detailed change impact assessment, a knowledge share needs assessment 
and a communications plan.  These identify all the groups of users, covering 
the entire organisation, who need to learn to use the system and understand 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

the changes they will see from the previous system. This has been 
complimented with a poster campaign, leaflets, intranet pages, a microsite and 
a regular newsletter.  The newsletters have raised awareness and informed 
staff and managers of what is coming with useful information on how to 
undertake common processes.

Councillor Murphy asked how much did it cost to exit the BT Agresso contract?  
Hitesh noted that due to the commercially sensitivity of the negotiations, officers 
will circulate reports previously considered to the Finance PAC and Audit 
Committee.

Action by Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance)

In response to a question regarding costs, officers noted that this is a well-
resourced programme due to its importance and complexity.  The original 
allocated budget for the programme is £7,911,000 including contingency.  As 
of 31 October 2018, the forecast spend across the programme was under by 
around £620,000.  The forecast budget includes LBHF programme costs and 
programme staff until programme shuts down and all Hampshire/Deloitte costs 
until go live.

Tony Boys commented that as more authorities come on board the partnership, 
the cost to us should reduce.  He asked for the details of the system’s capacity.  
Mark responded that the system has additional functionalities such as 
recruitment, learning and development, performance management and 
workforce planning models.  Some would be accessed later.

Judith Worthy asked who is carrying the risk and what is the contingency for 
the risk? Mark noted that payroll and technical problems at go live were the 2 
main risks.  Several actions have been put in place to mitigate against these 
risks.  It was noted that it is a partnership not customer/supplier relationship.  
There is a good governance model with detailed roles, responsibilities, and 
liabilities in place.  H&F has officers on the Integrated Business Centre (IBC) 
Board.  The SAP platform holds the data which is stored by Hampshire on its 
servers. We own the data which we can access from the cloud.  Hampshire 
manages the IBC. The system is tried and tested. 

Councillor Vincent asked if there were any penalties for non-performance in the 
new arrangements.  The meeting was informed that the partnership has a joint 
and several liability arrangements. 

Erik Hohenstein noted that it had to be a major task for Hampshire to manage 
a project which affects over 80,000 local government staff.  The Committee 
requested that:

 the business case be recirculated.
 officers should set out how it would work.
 how are we going to mitigate against the risk?

Action by: Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services)

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

14. TEMPORARY STAFFING AND ESTABLISHMENT REPORT 

Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services) presented a paper setting out 
the current temporary resourcing arrangements across the Council.  He noted 
that the scrutiny of agency spend cuts across PSR and Finance PACs.

As at September 2018, the Council directly employed 1,959 staff with the full-
time equivalency (FTE) of 1,755 and in addition, a further 395 agency workers.  
Agency staff represented 18% of the Council’s staffing resource.  Over the past 
3 financial years, the use of agency staff had increased from an annual spend 
in 2016/17 of £16.5 million to an estimated outturn in 2018/19 of £19 million. 

Agency staff have been used to cover vacancies, sickness absence, project 
work and peak demand in services.  40% of our agency staff have been with 
us for 2 years or more.  These staff would be moved over to permanent 
contracts.  The Council currently monitors staffing resources through the 
monthly Corporate Revenue Monitoring report against budgeted allocations for 
staffing.  We are exploring the better use of graduate and apprenticeship 
programmes to reduce this area of expenditure.  With our transformation plan 
in place, the aim is to reduce the agency ratio by 25% by the end of the year.  

In response a question from Councillor Murphy, regarding the link between the 
use of agency staff and the Council’s business plan, it was noted that there was 
a 50:50 split between one off specialist recruitment and non-specialist agency 
staff. 

Due to the evolving nature of our transition programme, rapid decision making 
had resulted in the increase use of agency staff.  We had to go to the market 
at short notice resulting in some higher spend.  Better workforce planning and 
project management would ensure that we plan our use of resources better. 
Replacing all agency staff would yield a savings of £400,000 per annum.  

Councillor Vincent asked what was the % of the agency fees on the £19 million 
spend.  It was reported that there is a 12% fee for recruitment within the 
framework and up to 43% for off framework recruitment.  Officers are trying to 
contain recruitment within the framework.

Although we employ around 2,000 staff, officers will look over the lifetime of the 
medium-term financial strategy to identify any areas where it would not be 
advantageous to recruit to permanent or fixed-term roles where workforce 
reductions are anticipated.  This would assist the Council in avoiding potential 
redundancies and pensions costs where restructures or reductions are 
required.

In response to Councillors Vincent and Murphy’s questions, it was noted that 
there are some roles where we would recruit to could result in some savings. 
Councillor Quigley asked for a breakdown of the number and cost of qualified 
and unqualified social workers.

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Action: Prakash Daryanani (Head of Finance – Adult Social Care) and 
Tony Burton (Head of Finance – Children’s)

Chris Littmoden asked how does the Council determine where the cost was too 
high particularly measuring cost vs productivity.  It was noted that there is a 5 
– 7% loss of productivity within the system.  We do not have a significant issue 
with long term sickness in the organisation.

Tony Boys noted that if the average daily agency staff rate was around £500 
per day, the quoted figures seem quite low.  It was reported that we have a lot 
of lower hourly rate and a low number of days rate staff engaged.  There are 
some £700 per day staff within the group.  The Council also uses other ways 
to cover roles to prevent the use of agency staff.  Overtime costs around 5% of 
our wage bill which is not a significant proportion of our wage bill.  A unified 
reward scheme would help in the future to reduce costs.

Erik Hohenstein requested for more data on loss of productivity and how the 
Council’s business, transformation, and financial plans all link together to 
achieve the Council’s corporate objectives.

Action by: Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services)

Hitesh Jolapara (Strategic Director of Finance and Governance) noted that the 
Council’s wage bill was about £90 million which must be radically reviewed.  An 
agency reduction plan had been put in place towards this target.  Eric 
Hohenstein expressed concerns that we could be slashing services by reducing 
staff.  Mark noted that the business plan sets out our 4-year vision.  We are not 
looking at redundancy but consolidating services.  H&F have an older 
workforce profile.  We intend to manage the workforce down with the aim to 
reducing it by 20% to 25% within 5 years.

Erik Hohenstein asked what would the workforce look like and does the Council 
have the resources to manage and implement such a large-scale project?  
Mark noted that the Council had set up a project management office to manage 
large scale programmes across the Council. 

Councillor Johnson asked what was stopping the Council from forward planning 
resources through training if loss of productivity was an issue.  Mark agreed 
that with an annual £90 million permanent and £19 million agency spend, we 
would need fewer but better trained workforce.  We will launch a workforce 
talent management programme in January 2019 to address this.

Councillor Murphy asked whether the £400,000 savings was reflected in the 
2018/19 budget?  He expressed concern that agency staff have been in roles 
longer than 2 years and inquired whether Member oversight of individual cases 
was required.  Mark noted that he had taken over the monitoring of agency staff 
who have been with the Council for over 12 months.  There are 46 agency staff 
over 2 years.  The plan is to end this arrangement by March 2019.  They either 
come on board or move on.  He advised against Cabinet Member signing off 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

all agency recruitment.  The responsibility and management of budgets should 
be done at a departmental level.

The Committee requested a paper/ papers on:
 how the Council will reduce staffing by 25% over 5 years.
 workforce retention piece – ensuring a stable and reliable workforce.
 a report back on staff motivation levels.

Action by: Mark Grimley (Director of Corporate Services)

15. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

The work programme was noted.

16. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

The following dates were agreed: - 
 Wednesday 30th January 2019
 Wednesday 27th March 2019

Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 9.42 pm

Chairman

Contact officer: Kayode Adewumi
Governance and Scrutiny
: 020 8753 2499
E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 13



1

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham

FINANCE, COMMERCIAL REVENUE AND 
CONTRACT POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

COMMITTEE

30th January 2019

2019 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial Services – Councillor 
Max Schmid

Report Status: Open

Classification:  For review and comment.

Key Decision: No

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: 
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Director for Finance & Governance

Report Authors: 
Corporate Overview 
Hitesh Jolapara – Strategic Director, Finance 
and Governance
Emily Hill – Assistant Director, Corporate 
Finance

Department
Danielle Wragg = Finance Business Partner

Contact Details:
Tel: 020 8753 3145
E-mail: emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk

Tel: 020 8753 4287
E-mail: danielle.wragg@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council tax proposals to 
Budget Council on 27th February 2019. A balanced budget will be set 
in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992.

1.2. This report sets out the budget proposals for the services covered by 
this Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC). An update is also 
provided on any proposed changes in fees and charges.

1.3. The council is entering into the 10th year of government-imposed 
austerity. This year’s reduction in government investment is £3.5m, 
meaning a total reduction of £73m (a real terms reduction of 59% from 
government).    

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



2

1.4. Government resource assumptions, that are used to calculate 
Government grant for the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
(LBHF), model the Council increasing council tax by 3% in 2019/20.  
Council Tax has not increased in LBHF in recent years and was last 
reduced in 2015/16, bringing it to its lowest level since 2002/03.  Over 
the last four years the Band D charge of £727.81 has reduced by 8.4% 
in real terms and is 34% lower than the London average of £1,112. 

1.5. The government has modelled an adult social care precept since 
2016/17. Government funding modelling assumes that this has been 
applied despite LBHF choosing not to apply it over recent budgets. 
Due to the continued high levels of inflation in the social care market 
and the Government’s continued failure to propose a long-term 
funding solution to social care funding, for the first time the Council 
proposes to allow 2% of the government’s adult social care levy for 
2019/20. This compares to the 8% precept assumed, by the 
government, over the four years to 2019/20.    

1.6. In accordance with the administration’s policy of keeping the council 
tax low while protecting and improving services, the Council’s 
budgeted council tax increase is restricted to an inflationary increase 
of 2.7%. This is pegged to the August 2018 increase in the Consumer 
Price Index and below the August Retail Price Index increase of 3.5%.

1.7. As well as commenting on the growth and savings for Finance and 
Governance this PAC are also invited to comment on the wider budget 
proposals for all council departments. To assist this process a 
supplementary analysis of trend and cost data is provided in Appendix 
5. This includes a 5 year analysis of the overall budget gap and a 
review of overall growth and savings.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) considers the 
budget proposals and makes recommendations to Cabinet as 
appropriate.

2.2. That the PAC considers the proposed changes to fees and charges 
and makes recommendations as appropriate. 

3. THE BUDGET GAP

3.1. The 2018/19 gross General Fund budget1 is £560m of which the net 
budget requirement of £151.8m is funded from council resources 
(such as council tax and business rates) and general government 
grant.

1 Figures exclude capital charges and internal service level agreements. These have a net nil 
impact on the budget.

Page 15



3

Page 16



4

Table 1 - 2018/19 Budget requirement 

Budgeted Expenditure £’m
Housing Benefit Payments 145
Departmental Budgets 415
Gross Budgeted Expenditure 560
Less:
Specific Government Grant (including housing 
benefits and dedicated schools grant)

(272)

Fees and charges (65)
Contributions (e.g. health, other boroughs) (49)
Other Income (e.g. investment interest, 
recharges to the Housing Revenue Account)

(22.2)

Net Budget Requirement 151.8

3.2. For 2019/20 the forecast budget gap, before savings, is £10.3m, rising 
to £48.6m by 2022/23. The budget is based on several key 
assumptions regarding resources and expenditure.

Table 2 - Budget Gap Before Savings 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 £’m £’m £’m £’m
Base Budget 151.8 151.8 151.8 151.8
Add:     
- Cumulative Inflation (includes 
pay) 3.0 8.2 13.4 18.6

- Cumulative headroom 0.0 6.0 12.0 18.0
- Growth 10.8 10.7 10.4 10.4
Budgeted Expenditure 165.6 176.7 187.6 198.8
Less:     
- Government Resources (15.2) (10.4) (9.9) (9.4)
- Business Rates (74.2) (75.6) (77.1) (78.6)
-  Forecast 2018/19 100% 
Business Rates Growth Pilot 
Surplus

(2.0)

Council Tax & Collection Fund 
Surplus (59.4) (59.8) (60.4) (61.0)

Adult Social Care Precept (1.2) (1.2) (1.2) (1.2)
- Use of Developer 
Contributions (3.3) * (3.3) * 0.0 0.0

Budgeted Resources (155.3) (150.3) (148.6) (150.2)
Cumulative Budget Gap 
Before Savings 10.3 26.4 39.0 48.6

* The Base Budget also includes funding of £1.7m from developer contributions for enhanced policing. 

Page 17



5

Budget Assumptions

3.3. Grant funding has been cut in each year since 2010/11. The total 
reduction since April 2010 to April 2019 has been £73m. This is a cash 
terms reduction of 47% and real terms reduction of 59%. Funding is 
forecast to reduce by a further 5% per annum from 2020/21 onwards 
with no continuation of new one-off funding of £4m received in 
2019/20.   

3.4. An adult social care precept of 2% is modelled for 2019/20. This will 
generate additional income of £4.6m over 4 years and £1.15m in the 
first year. The Council is committed to use such funding to support 
adult social care. The 2019/20 budget proposals include provision of 
£4.1m for adult social care spend pressures and inflation. Part of these 
pressures will be met from increased better care funding grant of 
£1.8m and winter pressures grant of £0.9m. 

3.5. An inflationary Council Tax increase of 2.7% is modelled for 
2019/20. A 2.7% increase will generate additional income of £6.3m 
over 4 years and £1.56m in the first year. This will add £19.65 per 
annum (5.4p per day) to the Band D Council tax charge. Council tax 
will remain the third lowest in the country. 

3.6. The business rates system will change for a third successive year.  
A rates revaluation in 2017/18 was followed by a pilot 100% rates 
retention scheme (for any growth in business) for London in 2018/19. 
Government has decided to reduce this to a 75% retention pilot in 
2019/20.  

Table 3 – Business Rates Retention Scheme

Proportion of Rates Income
Business Rates Retained: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Hammersmith & Fulham 30% 67% 48%
Greater London Authority (GLA) 37% 33% 27%
Government 33% 0 25%

100% 100% 100%

3.7. London Local Government worked to take forward a 100% business 
rates retention pilot for London from April 2018. This pools business 
rates across the 33 London Boroughs and GLA. Under this 
arrangement London keeps 100% of any growth in business rates, 
though business rates valuations and levels are still set by 
Government. Updated mid-year modelling identifies a one-off benefit to 
LBHF of £2.0m from the pool and this is included in 2019/20 forecast 
resources.  Final figures will be confirmed in September 2019.  

3.8 For 2019/20 the government has ended the 100% pilot. London Local 
Government has negotiated a new pilot however the imposition by 

Page 18



6

Central government of a 75% pilot will reduce the benefits to the 
London Boroughs and GLA. Indicative modelling suggests a one-off 
benefit for LBHF of £1.2m. This modelling is based on an aggregation 
of high level estimates and before Boroughs have submitted detailed 
2019/20 figures. The actual benefit will not be confirmed until 
September 2020. This sum is not taken account of within the 2019/20 
budgeted resources.

3.9 Under the 75% pilot LBHF potentially receives a share of London’s 
future business growth. The pilot arrangements also require 
compensating adjustments in other funding streams. 

Table 4: Changes to 2019/20 Funding Streams from the 75% 
Business Rates Pilot

 
No-
Pilot

With 
Pilot

Business Rates Baseline 76.9 123.0
Tariff payable to the 
Government 16.1 45.0
Funding Baseline 60.9 78.0
Revenue Support Grant 17.1 0
Total LBHF Funding 78.0 78.0

Safety net threshold 73.4 74.1

3.10 Table 4 sets out the sum assumed (£78.0m) by the Government in 
the 2019 Local Government Finance Settlement. In recent years the 
Council has received less than the assumed sum of business rates 
due to the impact of rating appeals. A safety net threshold is set 
which guarantees a minimum income to the Council. A further 
advantage of the pilot is that this threshold is set at a higher level (by 
£0.7m). 

3.11 An updated forecast for business rates will be carried out by all 
boroughs in January 2019. This will provide greater clarity on the 
LBHF estimate and the potential benefits from the pilot pool 
arrangements. 

3.12 The Government are undertaking a ‘fair funding’ review which will 
inform the 2020/21 Local Government Finance Settlement. This will 
impact on how grant and business rates are distributed between 
authorities. A Green paper is also due on the longer-term funding for 
adult social care. These changes, combined with current economic 
uncertainty, add significant risk to the funding forecast beyond 
2019/20.   

3.13 Planning obligations under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended), known as s.106 agreements, are a mechanism which 
make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not 

Page 19



7

otherwise be acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the 
impact of development. Property developments have placed increased 
pressure on council services in recent years. 

3.14 Legal tests governing the use of s.106 agreements are set out in regulation 
122 and 123 of the CIL Regulations 2010 as amended. The tests are:

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
 Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

3.15 Local planning authorities are required to use the funding in accordance with 
the terms of the individual planning obligation legal agreement. This will 
ensure new developments are acceptable; benefit local communities and 
support the provision of local infrastructure. In LBHF there are three broad 
categories of s.106 contributions received:
 for a specific purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement 

(such as specific highway works)
 for a general functional purpose defined and described in the s.106 

agreement but with geographical constraints (such as provision of 
community infrastructure in the White City area)

 for a general purpose defined and described in the s.106 agreement but 
with no borough geographical constraints (such as economic 
development, education purposes, community safety initiatives etc).

3.16 Provided the Council respects the obligation to maintain a reasonable 
relationship with the developments and complies with the specific terms of 
each of the s.106 agreements giving rise to the funds, the Council has a 
degree of discretion as to how it allocates and spends some of the general 
purpose funds.  The council has analysed all its s.106 agreements to 
determine funds with general purposes that can be considered for budgeting 
purposes.  As is usual in these circumstances, many areas of Council 
activity that have faced increased demand following new developments offer 
a good fit with the purposes of some of the uncommitted s.106 funds which 
can therefore be lawfully used to finance such activities.  

3.17 The 2019/20 budget assumes that £3.3m of expenditure will be funded 
from s.106 resources. In addition, contributions of £1.7m per annum are 
assumed towards the provision of enhanced policing. The Council has 
considered the level of general purposes funds available and has forecast 
s.106 receipts in hand at the end of 2018/19 of £11m. After estimating 
future receipts and commitments, including 2019/20 budget commitments, 
£9.6m is forecast to be in hand at the end of 2019/20. The forecasts are 
based on assumptions around implementation and completion of planning 
applications, as approved, the expected time of developments 
commencing and reaching trigger points. Looking further ahead, the level 
of uncertainty around trigger points increases and forecasts are less 
certain.

Page 20



8

3.18 Inflation. A pay award of 2% per annum has been modelled. Inflation has 
also been provided, on a case by case basis, to meet contractual 
requirements.

GROWTH, SAVINGS AND RISKS

4.1 The growth and savings proposals for the services covered by this 
PAC are set out in Appendix 1 with budget risks set out in Appendix 2. 
This PAC are also invited to comment on the wider budget proposals 
for all council departments. To assist this process a supplementary 
analysis of trend and cost data is provided in Appendix 5.  This 
identifies:

 Growth, savings and inflation as a percentage of 
departmental budgets.

 A summary of the current year projection
 Trend unit cost data in key service areas.

Growth

4.2 Budget growth is summarised by Service Area in Table 5. 

Table 5: 2019/20 Growth Proposals

Service Area £’m

Children's Services 3.3
Growth & Place 0.1
Public Services Reform 2.6
Social Care 3.6
Council Wide 0.7
Zero Based Budgeting and Service Redesign 0.5

Total 10.8

Savings

4.3 The Council faces a continuing financial challenge due to overall 
Central Government funding cuts, unfunded burdens, inflation, and 
demand and growth pressures. The budget gap will increase in each 
of the next three years if no action is taken to reduce expenditure, 
generate more income through commercial revenue or continue to 
grow the number of dwellings and businesses in the borough.

Page 21



9

4.4 To close the budget gap for 2019/20, savings (including additional 
income) of £10.3m are proposed. 

Table 6: 2019/20 Savings and Additional Income

Service Area £’m
Children's Services (1.3)
Corporate Services (0.3)
Finance & Governance (1.6)
Growth & Place (0.8)
Public Services Reform (0.8)
Residents' Services (2.4)
Social Care (3.1)

Savings (10.3)

 4.5 The saving proposals are categorised by savings area in Table 7.

Table 7: Categorisation of Savings and Additional Income

2018/19
£’m

2019/20
£’m

Business Intelligence (0.4) 0.0
Budgets realigned with spend and income (0.2) (1.8)
Commercialisation (3.4) (0.5)
Estate Rationalisation (0.1) 0.0
Income (0.5) (0.1)
Outside investment secured (0.1) 0.0
Prevention (1.6) 0.0
Procurement / Commissioning (5.1) (1.6)
Service reconfiguration (3.1) (4.1)
Staffing / Productivity (0.9) (2.2)
Total All Savings (15.4) (10.3)

Budget Risk and Reserves

4.6 The Council’s General Fund gross budget is £560m. Within a budget 
of this magnitude there are inevitably areas of risk and uncertainty 
particularly within the current challenging financial environment. The 
key financial risks that face the Council have been identified and 
quantified. They total £25m. Financial risks of £19.5m were identified 
when the 2018/19 Budget was set.

4.7 The level of balances and reserves are examined each year in light of 
the medium-term opportunities and risks facing the authority. The latest 
reserves forecast to 2021/22 assuming no overspends is set out in 
Table 8.

Page 22



10

Table 8:  Reserves Forecast to 2021/22

 Opening 
balance 

Budgeted 
contributions 

to 2021/22
Commitments 

to 2021/22 Total
£m £m £m £m

Earmarked reserves (79.146) (7.691) 50.267 (36.570)
King Street Decant Costs 27.300
Estimated profit from JV (11.100)
Forecast earmarked 
reserves (20.370)

General balances (19.004)
Earmarked restricted 
reserves (15.583)

Total reserves (54.957)

4.8 The existing commitments include:

 The planned investment of earmarked reserves on council 
priorities (for example implementing the IT strategy, incentive 
payments to landlords or managed services implementation). 

 Prudently setting aside amounts to protect against budgetary 
risks such as the £14m regarding the forecast shortfall in 
Dedicated Schools Grant for the High Needs Block.

 The existing commitments include £5.4m of planned invest to 
save investment. The Council is considering capitalising such 
expenditure in accordance with a Government Regulation on the 
flexible use of capital receipts. Should such expenditure be 
capitalised the forecast balance of reserves will increase.

4.9 Funding for pupils with high needs is provided through Dedicated 
Schools Grant from government.  A recent children’s services finance 
survey showed that London boroughs were spending £78m more than 
their high needs grant allocation, with 32 out of 33 boroughs reporting 
a shortfall. For LBHF the cumulative shortfall in funding is forecast to 
be £14.2m by the close of 2018/19. The Council is developing options 
for a deficit recovery plan and has contacted the government to 
discuss funding levels. It is also discussing how this should be treated 
on the Council’s Balance sheet following a consultation by the 
Education Funding Agency. Pending further clarification, the Council 
has set aside a reserve to cover the potential deficit.

4.10 Looking to the future an anticipated use of reserves is a planned 
investment of £27.3m in the King Street West Regeneration project 
with a forecast profit of £11.1m coming back to the Council from the 
proposed Joint Venture profits. This scheme will be considered at Full 
Council on 23 January 2019. The Council will benefit from efficiencies 

Page 23



11

in delivering modern, inclusively designed and fit-for-purpose office 
and civic accommodation for its staff and visitors, as well as for small 
and start-up businesses. It also avoids the need for significant capital 
investment in the existing Town Hall and Town Hall Extension, which 
in 2017 was estimated at between £29.2 million and £53.5 million for 
both buildings, depending on the extent of refurbishment works 
undertaken. These figures exclude professional fees (estimated to be 
at least £2million to tender stage) and the cost of decanting staff to 
allow works to take place.

4.11 Maintaining reserves and balances at an adequate level is essential to 
the future financial resilience of the Council. For example, an 
overspend of £4.9m is forecast in the month 6 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor. This will be a further call on reserves unless the overspend is 
tackled by year-end. 

4.12 Reserves can only be spent once. The forecast to 2021/22 identifies a 
tightening in the Council’s finances that will need careful management 
and review. Continued focus will be required on keeping spend within 
budget and avoiding the use reserves to balance future budgets and 
rebuilding reserves for future investments.     

5 FEES AND CHARGES

5.1 The budget strategy assumes:
 Social Care charges frozen
 A standard uplift of 3.5% based on the August 2018 Retail Price 

Index for other charges
 Case by case review for commercial services that are charged on a 

for-profit basis. These will be varied up and down in response to 
market conditions, with relevant Member approval. 

5.2 A list of the currently proposed exceptions to the standard 3.9% increase 
for all Departments, is set out in Appendix 4.

6 2019/20 COUNCIL TAX LEVELS

6.1 The administration proposes to increase the Hammersmith and 
Fulham element of 2019/20 Council Tax in line with inflation, by 2.7%.  
A 2.7% increase will generate additional income of £6.3m over 4 years 
and annual income of £1.56m and will add £19.65 per annum (5.4p 
per day) to the Band D Council tax charge. As set out below, 52% of 
dwellings are liable for 100% council tax with exemptions/discounts for 
Council Tax Support claimants, students, care leavers and single 
person households.

Page 24



12

Table 9:  Liability for Council Tax

Total dwellings in the borough 88,700
Reductions:

Exemptions (mainly students, includes care leavers) (3,600)

Council tax support claimants (elderly & working age on low 
income)

(11,200)

Single person discount (25% discount) (28,200)

Dwellings liable for 100% of Council tax 45,700
52%

6.2 An adult social care precept levy of 2% is budgeted for 2019/20 with 
a freeze in future years. This will generate additional income of £4.6m 
over 4 years and £1.15m in 2019/20. This will increase the Band D 
Council Tax charge by £14.55 (4p per day). 

6.3 The Mayor of London’s draft budget is currently out for consultation 
and is due to be presented to the London Assembly on 24 January 
2019, with final confirmation of precepts on 25 February. The current 
Band D precept is £294.23.

6.4 The change to the LBHF Band D charge is set out in Table 10. The 
current LBHF Band D charge of £727.81 is 34% lower than the London 
average of £1,112. The overall Band D charge, including the GLA 
precept, is the third lowest in the country.

Table 10: LBHF Band D Council Tax Charge

2018/19 LBHF Band D charge £727.81
Proposed 2019/20 Increase of 2.7% £19.65
Proposed 2% Adult Social Care precept £14.55
2019/20 Total LBHF Band D charge £762.01

7. Comments of the Strategic Director, Finance and Governance on 
the Budget Proposals

7.1. Finance and Governance is proposing a net budget before Capital and 
Corporately Managed budgets of £29.375m. Within Finance and 
Governance, there are many services which support frontline council 
business. As such, £27.048m of the budget is expected to be recovered 
as corporately controlled income (recharges).

Page 25



13

Table 11: Finance and Governance Budget 2019/20

Section Expenditure
£000

Income
£000

Total
£000

IT Services 14,589 0 14,589
Facilities Management and Building 
Control 8,830 (1,562) 7,268
Legal & Democratic Services 6,371 (5,018) 1,353
Finance 5,697 (594) 5,103
Audit, Risk, Fraud & Insurance 1,062 0 1,062
Total Budget before Capital and 
Corporately Managed budgets 36,549 (7,174) 29,375
Corporately Managed Budgets 1,553 (29,666) (28,113)
Capital Charges 1,065 0 1,065
Total Capital & Corporately Managed 
Budgets 2,618 (29,666) (27,048)
Total Finance and Governance 
Budgets 39,167 (36,840) 2,327

7.2. There are proposed savings of £1.639m in 2019/20. These are outlined by 
category (Table 12) and by directorate (Table 13). 

Table 12: 2019/20 Finance and Governance Savings by Category

Category Total
£000

Service Reconfiguration (439)
Procurement / Commissioning (1,200)
Total Savings (1,639)

Table 13: 2019/20 Finance and Governance Savings by Directorate

Section Total
£000

IT Services (1,200)
Facilities Management and Building 
Control 0
Legal & Democratic Services (39)
Finance (390)
Audit, Risk, Fraud & Insurance (10)
Total Finance and Governance 
Savings (1,639)

Page 26



14

IT Services

7.3. The proposed savings of £1.200m will be delivered through new contract 
arrangements.

Legal & Democratic Services

7.4. The proposed savings of £0.039m will delivered through a reduction in 
print costs (£0.030m), and a reduction in back office costs in Governance 
and Electoral services (£0.009m).

Finance

7.5. The proposed savings of £0.390m will be achieved by a review of Levy 
payments and external income (£0.040m). In addition, an analysis of the 
pension auto enrolment showed costs did not increase as a result of 
implementation and therefore a saving can be achieved (£0.250m). There 
are also reductions in unfunded pension costs (£0.100m).

Audit, Risk, Fraud & Insurance

7.6. The proposed savings of £0.010m will be achieved through changes to the 
internal audit provision.

8 Equality Implications

8.1 A draft Equality Impact Analysis (EIA), which assesses the impacts on 
equality of the main items in the budget proposals for all Council 
Departments is attached as Appendix 3. A final EIA will be reported to 
Budget Council.

Page 27



15

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. Description of
Background Papers

Name/Ext. of holder of 
file/copy

Department/
Location

1. None 

Appendix 1 – Savings and Growth Proposals

Appendix 2 – Risks

Appendix 3 – Draft Equality Impact Assessment

Appendix 4 – Fees & Charges not Increasing at the Standard Rate

Page 28



page 1of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Children's Services

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Looked After Children and Care Leavers Growth Pressure 2,050 2,050 2,050 2,050

DUBs Cases Growth Pressure 232 232 232 232

Ongoing investment in teams working to prevent escalation of cases through 

early intervention
612 612 612 612

Family Support and Child Protection - new team 350 350 350 350

Disabled Children direct payments London Living Wage growth 16 16 16 16

3,260 3,260 3,260 3,260

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description (max 15 words)

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Children's Services Increased and earlier provision of Housing for Care Leavers  Medium (159) (318) (382) (382)

Children's Services

Working with users of the travel service to promote independent travel training.  

Making sure all of our routes are well planned and efficient .  Savings from the 

Crown Commercial Tickets Contract.  Working with Adults Social Care to better 

plan arrangements for 19+ 

Medium (95) (95) (95) (95)

Children's Services

More users receive support and Independent Taxi Travel Training.  The 

contract for travel to Jack Tizard school is renegotiated 

Effective preparation for adulthood pathways delivered by SEND service 

reducing demand for post 19 travel care support.

High (165) (165) (165) (165)

Children's Services

Improving the way we organise and manage spending on providing escorts, to 

support children travelling to contact meetings/appointments that are part of 

their care plan.   

Low (40) (40) (40) (40)

Children's Services
Giving children the security of a Special Guardianship order where they are 

long term placed with foster carers, reduced Agency costs. 
Low (105) (205) (205) (205)

Children's Services Enhanced placement Oversight & Management , Medium (50) (50) (50) (50)

Children's Services
Building a new improved approach/service for adolescents through relationship 

building, tackling knives, gang and youth violence
Medium (50) (50) (50) (50)

Children's Services/Corporate 

Finance

Better finance information to managers through Finance dashboards and 

business intelligence
Low

Will support 

overall budget 

management

Will support 

overall budget 

management

Will support 

overall budget 

management

Will support 

overall budget 

management

Children's Services

Enhanced Fostering/secure base  - Developing a scheme for the most 

experienced foster carers with high support from the LA  to take children with 

higher needs currently in residential care. 

Medium (599) (599) (599) (599)

(1,263) (1,522) (1,586) (1,586)

Savings

Total Savings

Budget Change

Total Growth

Budget Change

P
age 29



page 2of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Corporate Services

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

HR HR Staffing Low (156) (156) (156) (156)

HR Decommissioning of Midland License Medium (45) (45) (45) (45)

HR HR School Traded Model Medium (30) (50) (50) (50)

HR Data Maximisation to develop customer application Low (25) (40) (50) (80)

Communications LBHF Website Advertising Medium (30) (30) (30) (30)

Executive Services Leaders Office Reduction Low (50) (50) (50) (50)

(336) (371) (381) (411)

Savings

Total Savings

Budget Change

P
age 30



page 3of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Finance & Governance

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Legal and Democratic Services Efficiencies in Member printing through digitisation Low (30) (30) (30) (30)

Legal and Democratic Services Efficiencies in Mayor's catering spend Medium (5) (5) (5) (5)

Legal and Democratic Services Efficiencies in Election staffing Low (4) (4) (4) (4)

IT Services Renegotiation of Virtual Desktop Interface Contract Low (200) 0 0 0

IT Services Renegotiation and rationalisation of contracts in IT services Medium (1,000) (1,400) (1,400) (1,400)

IT Services Internal audit provision efficiencies Medium (10) (10) (10) (10)

Finance
Review of Contingency Budgets - Pension Auto Enrolment has identified a 

saving. 
Low (250) (250) (250) (250)

Finance

A review of the payments made to the pension fund to cover unfunded pension 

costs from historic redundancy decisions shows that there is a current 

underspend.  This is a cost that is likely to reduce over time so the realignment 

of the budget is low risk.

Low (100) (100) (100) (100)

Finance

Review of external spending and income has identified underspends in relation 

to Levy payments and income from the London Residual Body (for the LBHF 

share of income from the London Eye site) 

Low (40) (40) (40) (40)

(1,639) (1,839) (1,839) (1,839)

Budget Change

Savings

Total Savings (excluding savings in gross resources)

P
age 31



page 4of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Growth & Place

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Funding of Feasibility Studies on General Fund Land (to see if it can be used to 

provide Housing)
100 0 0 0

100 0 0 0

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Planning Planning staffing efficiencies Medium (328) (328) (328) (328)

Housing Solutions
Temporary  accommodation - Reduction Programme and investment in Private 

Rented Sector properties
Low (250) (250) (250) (250)

Housing Solutions Housing Solutions staff savings Low (141) (141) (141) (141)

Economic Development Restructure of the Work Matters Service & s106 investment Low (60) (60) (60) (60)

(779) (779) (779) (779)

Budget Change

Total Growth

Budget Change

Savings

Total SavingsP
age 32



page 5of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Public Services Reform

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Business Intelligence team 1,882 1,882 1,882 1,882

Joint Venture budget realignment 600 600 600 600

Advertising Hoardings Income budget reallignment 646 646 646 646

Residual income target for the above (500) (500) (500) (500)

2,628 2,628 2,628 2,628

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

 Public Service Reform Departmental Restructure Medium (500) (500) (500) (500)

 Adult Homelessness
Moving homeless residents from short-term hostel at Wood Lane into 

alternative provision
Low (186) (186) (186) (186)

 Older People
End of contract at Bishops Creighton House, with provision provided instead in 

sheltered housing and other community provision
Low (70) (70) (70) (70)

(756) (756) (756) (756)

Budget Change

Total Growth

Budget Change

Savings

Total Savings

P
age 33



page 6of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Residents Services

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Highways Projects Cycle street furniture advertising High (25) (25) (25) (25)

Parks & Open Spaces Events income Medium (30) (30) (30) (30)

Parks & Open Spaces Licensing  for companies using parks for large exercise groups Medium (10) (10) (10) (10)

Leisure Centres Improved leisure facilities contract Medium (30) (30) (30) (30)

Parks & Open Spaces
Various small initiatives including 17/18 underspends, sponsorship, sustainable 

planting
Medium (18) (18) (18) (18)

Street Scene 

Enforcement
Increase legal disbursements income Medium (10) (10) (10) (10)

Commercial Waste Increase commercial waste income Medium (20) (20) (20) (20)

Waste Action Targeted increase in recycling High (116) (116) (116) (116)

Business Support Deletion of Business Support posts Low (50) (50) (50) (50)

CCTV CCTV staff  - investment of applicable S.106 Medium (80) (80) (80) (80)

CCTV CCTV maintenance  - investment of applicable S.106 Medium (40) (40) (40) (40)

Highways 

Maintenance and Park 

& Leisure

Better procurement in parks High (50) (50) (50) (50)

Environmental Health 

Licensing 
A review of the Licensing team. Medium (10) (10) (10) (10)

Public Conveniences End subsidy for Shepherds Bush convenience used by TfL bus drivers Medium (24) (24) (24) (24)

Waste & Enforcement More robust enforcement strategy for night time waste High (83) (83) (83) (83)

Parking Realign budgets with current income and expenditure levels Low (1,850) (1,850) (1,850) (1,850)

(2,446) (2,446) (2,446) (2,446)

Savings

Total Savings

Budget Change

P
age 34



page 7of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Social Care

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Investment in Social Care offering for disabled persons and the elderly 3,631 3,631 3,631 3,631

3,631 3,631 3,631 3,631

Financial Strategy Savings

Service Description

Delivery 

Risk 

(H-M-L) 

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Care and Assessment Promoting independence and improved assessment of payments. Medium (950) (950) (950) (950)

Learning Disabilities

Jointly with children's services, education and the NHS, improve the earlier 

planning of young Disabled People transitioning into adulthood and move to an 

Integrated Preparation to Adulthood Service with Children’s social care, 

Education and NHS services

Medium (555) (555) (555) (555)

Care and Assessment
To co-produce a focussed, supportive and proportionate Direct Payment 

Finance Review practice.
Low (350) (350) (350) (350)

In-House Services Redesign of the in-house community access service Medium (175) (175) (175) (175)

All Agency Staff reductions Medium (400) (400) (400) (400)

Care and Assessment
Improving productivity for review and assessment work through improved 

standard and target setting and working to the principle of proportionality
High (300) (300) (300) (300)

Commissioning - PSR Public Health funding for the ASC meals on wheels service. Medium (128) (128) (128) (128)

Care and Assessment
Improved productivity of the brokerage function through the use of targets and 

tighter controls.
Medium (100) (100) (100) (100)

Mental Health
West London Mental Health Commissioned Peer Support Service review - 

successfully completed and implemented.
Low (60) (60) (60) (60)

Directorate
Withdrawal from the West London Alliance Social Care contributions (Social 

Care and PSR) -  successfully completed and implemented.
Low (21) (21) (21) (21)

In-House Services Further promote independence through planning transport options Medium (11) (11) (11) (11)

Commissioning - PSR Review of benchmarking performance indicators for PFI homes High (36) (36) (36) (36)

(3,086) (3,086) (3,086) (3,086)

Savings

Total Savings

Budget Change

Budget Change

Total Growth

P
age 35



page 8of 8 Appendix 1 - MTFS Savings and Growth Proposals

Councilwide Budgets

Financial Strategy Growth

Service Description

2019-20 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative    

(£000's) 

2020-21 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2021-22 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

2022-23 

Budget 

Change 

Cumulative  

(£000's)

Realignment of accommodation budgets 250 250 250 250

Reduced land charges income 200 200 200 200

Net increase in cost of borrowings less investment income 200 200 200 200

Investment in capacity of Zero-Based Budgeting and great financial analytical 

capacity to identify waste and future savings while improving services
514 514 514 514

1,164 1,164 1,164 1,164

Budget Change

Total Growth

P
age 36



Appendix 2

Children's Services Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23 

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Children's' Services

Looked After Children placements

New high cost placements. Cases have occurred in 2018-19 with annual costs of up to 

£0.345m. In 2018-19 the top 20 placements are expected to account for 27% of the total 

placements spend. Contingency is built into the budget for placements growth in line 

with 2018-19 and 2017-18, however additional high cost placements above this are a 

significant risk.

         500          500          500          500 

Growth of £2.050m in the 2019/20 MTFS for  Loooked 

After Children and Leaving Care pressures. 

Investment of £0.650m in a Diversionary Team to 

prevent further escalation in LAC costs

Children with disabilities

New high cost placements. Individual costs are high with the most expensive package in 

2018-19 forecast to cost £437k with 50% funded by health. A new placement at this 

level is a significant risk.

         200          200          200          200 

High Needs Block and Schools Grant 

funding pressure

Due to the current commitments to children, it will be a significant challenge to meet 

children’s needs within the budget envelope defined by Central Government. There is a 

high risk that the whole systems reveiw of SEND will have significant lead in times 

resulting in a financial risk that expenditure will exceed central government funding over 

the medium term. The risk may be compounded by further unfunded demand growth in 

Education & Health Care Plans and SEN Support.

      4,500       4,500       4,500       4,500 

Early Years Dedicated Schools Grant 

Funded Expenditure

There is a risk for 2019/20 with respect to the Early Years National Funding Formula. A 

change in the NFF requires all LAs to passport funding via the Early Years Dedicated 

Schools Grant (EY DSG) to all providers based on a participation (activity model) with 

standard unit rates. This will have an adverse financial impact on the budgets of Schools 

in LBHF who have benefitted from protected payments via lump sum payments until 

2018/19. 

There is a particular risk around the provision for vulnerable children subject to a child in 

need and child protection  assessment and how this can continue to funded from Early 

Years DSG in line with government regulations.

         500          500          500          500 

Children's' Services Total 5,700 5,700 5,700 5,700 

Risk

P
age 37



Appendix 2

Finance and Governance Risk/Challenges

Risk Risk Risk

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Finance and Governance

ICT Services Savings from contracts less than anticipated  tbc  tbc  tbc 
Ensure tender process is run effectively and risks of delay in delivery are 

managed. Consider use of reserves.

Finance and Governance Total 0 0 0 

Corporate Services Risk/Challenges

Risk Risk Risk

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Corporate Services 

Communications
Income target from advertising on LBHF website is 

not realised
30 30 30

Income generation and marketing plan to be produced by the service. 

Regular monitoring of progress against target. 

Communications
Growth to offset Hammerprint income target is not 

awarded
170 170 170

Service to prepare alternative ways to offset the pressure that closing the 

print shop would cause

Human Resources
Demands from the business result in continued 

reliance on agency resources
100 100 100

Ensure that the business is self serving where possible, only referring to 

HR where necessary.

Corporate Services Total 300 300 300 P
age 38



Appendix 2

Growth and Place Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Temporary Accommodation Overall Benefit Cap          100          100          100          100 

Temporary Accommodation Direct Payments (Universal Credit)            35            35            35            35 

Temporary Accommodation
Increase in the number of households in Temporary 

Accommodation - based on current forecast
            -               -            103          289 

Temporary Accommodation Large families in B&B          181          237          294          350 

Temporary Accommodation

Loss of Temporary Accommodation Management Fee on Housing 

Benefit Subsidy - the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant will be 

received in 2019/20 but Government has not confirmed whether 

funding will be available from 2020/21 onwards.

            -         1,808       1,941       2,007 

Temporary Accommodation
Inflationary pressures on Temporary Accommodation landlord 

costs, based on an extra 1.5% rental inflation
         260          524          791       1,063 

Temporary Accommodation
Increase in the number of households in Temporary 

Accommodation - extra 100 each year above current forecast
         601       1,202       1,803       2,404 

Temporary Accommodation
Homelessness Reduction Act - increase in households in 

temporary accommodation - extra 70 each year
         471          942       1,413       1,883 

Temporary Accommodation

Direct Lettings Cost Avoidance payments - risk in future years (the 

Cost Avoidance payments have be funded from the Temporary 

Accommodation earmarked reserve in 18/19)

         600          600          600          600 

EDLS

Inflationary pressures on fees income from Adult Learning courses 

(3.2% standard inflation rate for FY 19.20) plus ongoing pressure 

from MTFS savings from FY 16.17 and FY 18.19.  The shortfall 

may be met from reserves and/or NHB subject to availability of 

           85  unknown  unknown  unknown 

EDLS Devolution of Adult Education Budget to London Mayor  unknown  unknown  unknown  unknown 

EDLS
Economic Development Team activity contingent on Section 106 

funding to be approved via Cabinet in early 2019
      1,222       1,222       1,222       1,222 

EDLS Shepherds Bush Comedy Festival: potential additional events costs          125  unknown  unknown  unknown 

Planning

There is a risk that the costs of current and future work in 

producing Supplementary Planning Documents will exceed the 

budgets and funding available.

           50            50            50            50 

Planning

In recent years, the cost of judicial reviews and major planning 

appeals has been met from earmarked reserves but these funds 

are now exhausted and therefore, there is an ongoing risk of an 

overspend against the budget. 

         300          300          300          300 

Risk

Growth & Place

P
age 39



Appendix 2

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Planning

The inherent volatility of planning income means it is difficult to 

predict future income expectations due to several factors including:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

• Changes to the statutory charging schedule

• Economic factors such as the impact on planning activity of Brexit

• Changes in legislation e.g. permitted development rights, 

Planning Performance Agreement regulation

• Changes to pre-application charging fees and Planning 

Performance Agreement templates

• Local and wider market conditions

• Availability of development sites in the borough

• Developers by-passing the pre-application process as it is not 

compulsory

• Government schemes to encourage house building, including 

grant schemes

• Developers’ responding to current and pipeline housing supply in 

borough (they don’t want to flood the local market)

•  Adverse weather conditions

         500          500          500          500 

Valuation Unfunded repairs and maintenance costs at the Lyric Theatre          100          100          100          100 

4,630 7,620 9,252 10,903Grand Total

P
age 40



Appendix 2

Residents Servicess Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

 2019/20  

Value 

(£000's) 

 2020/21 

Value 

(£000's) 

 2021/22  

Value 

(£000's) 

 2022/23 

Value 

(£000's) 

Mitigation

All Shared Services Review - Disaggregation of the bi-borough arrangements with RBKC. TBC TBC TBC TBC Zero-based budgeting approach

Various
Budget areas dependent on Section 106--risk of slow-down of receipts in the future if there is 

downturn in developments
2,900 1,800 1,800 1,800 

Customer Services
£481k MTFS staffing, £150k Channel Saving, £20k OOH Contract, £90k H&F Direct Loss of Court 

Costs, (£tbc)-Operational cost of Ethical Debt collection  (Total £741k)
741 741 741 741 

Workshops being held with 1st Credit to understand costing model and a request 

has been made for these costs to be centralised.

Waste Disposal Waste disposal rates and tonnages increase by more than budgeted               -    326 501  tbc 
Regular finance review and reporting through DMT. Continue to progress action 

plans to target reductions in general waste tonnages and increase recycling.

Ducting Contract
Risk that the current ducting concession contract has reduced with no alternative provider or 

substitution
250 250 250 250 

Work with the concession holder to identify new large contracts. Regular finance 

review to monitor concession holder’s performance.  Departmental reserves set 

aside.

Registrars
Loss of Nationality Checking Service income, resulting from Home Office shift to online digital 

services. £100k average annual income achieved since April 2016.
100 100 100 100 

Identify alternative income generating potential within the service area, although 

this may be limited (look to other boroughs for opportunities). Seek support from 

the Commercial Team to increase income as far as possible.

EH Private Housing - 

Selective/Additional Licensing
New private housing licensing income does not cover the additional administration costs in full 300 300 300 300 

Closely monitor to ensure that expenditure is reduced in line with any reductions in 

income. Report progress on this Commercial business case to the Commercial 

Board

CGCS Waste Contract process and re-procurement 200 200 

Work with contract holder to identify vfm savings and efficiencies.  Regular 

contract monitoring to ensure that performance is maintained and expenditure 

reductions are aligned to targets.

Parks and Leisure  Leisure Centre Contract  70 40 
Work with contract holder.  Regular contract monitoring to ensure that performance 

is maintained and income projections are aligned to targets.

CGCS Procurement process for cleansing contract 100 100 100 100 

Culture/ Community Safety - 

Commercial Savings

"Commercial income savings not achievable due to market conditions Events: Commercial services 

income target for markets and events £100k CCTV: Commercial services income target for 

deployable CCTV not being achieved £100k Professional Witnesses: Lack of uptake of this new 

service £20k"

220 220 220 220 

Work with the Commercial Director to develop and implement plans. Regular 

finance review to monitor service demand. Report through DMT and Commercial 

Board. 

Filming Filming income budgets not delivered in full 125 125 125 125 
Fully mobilise and exploit new filming and events location library. Work with the 

Commercial Team to maximise sales.

Street Cleansing and Street 

Enforcement - Waste Action Team

£671k Inflation on the SERCO has been held back by FCS whilst efforts are made to finds equivalent 

savings on the existing contract which is due to be re-tendered by April 2021. There is a budget risk if 

the savings cannot be found. £84k prior year MTFS Unachievable savings

755 755   -       -    
Corporate to award the contract inflation to the department in-year if the anticipated 

savings cannot be found through renegotiating the existing contract.

Libraries & Archives

Commercial and SmartOpen savings targets not achieved. There is uncertainty about how the full 

commercial savings target will be achieved. The high target stems partially from the decision in 

2017/18 not to follow a trust model. Additionally the achievement of the SmartOpen savings target 

from 18/19 requires capital investment.

280 280 280 280 

 Focus on actions to improve income through Libraries Transformation Board. 

Agree Smart Open investment as invest to save scheme. The service could delay 

committing to library resource spend and delay recruitment.  

Highways & Projects Metro Wireless contract 73 73 73 73 

Risk

P
age 41



Appendix 2

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

 2019/20  

Value 

(£000's) 

 2020/21 

Value 

(£000's) 

 2021/22  

Value 

(£000's) 

 2022/23 

Value 

(£000's) 

Mitigation

Risk

Parks & Open Spaces 2019/20 MTFS: Improved usage of parks for events not being delivered 30 30 30 30 
Reviewing budgets and staffing- Parks are not responsible for events so savings 

would need to come form elsewhere not yet identified

Parks & Open Spaces 2019/20 MTFS: Savings resulting from various 2017/18 underspends not being repeated 18 18 18 18 Closely monitor budgets and aim to achive target

Parking
Parking suspensions income may fall if the wider economy slows, leading to reduce property 

development activity and reduced demand for parking bay suspensions.
1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 Parking fees not set to raise income, so no mitigation proposed

Parking Receipts from moving traffic offence penalty charge notices will fall if driver behaviour improves. 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 
Reducing offences is the object of moving traffic penalties, so a reduced income 

would be a sign of success

Parking Risk of delay in introducing call-back function 45 45 45 45 The service would consider making other adjustments to its staffing.

Building Control

There is an income shortfall on Building Control. This is primarily due to the current recession in the 

construction industry as a result of the uncertainties surrounding Brexit and the increased competition 

from the private approved inspectors.

250 250 250 250 
Further opportunities being explored to identify new commissions (internal and 

external) 

Environmental Services ( Inc CPA) 8,457 7,653 6,833 6,332                                                                                             -   

P
age 42



Appendix 2

Social Care Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk

2019/20  

Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Adult Social Care

All divisions

There is the potential for contract inflation and 

wage pressures to be greater then budgeted 

primarily from wage pressures as the National 

Minimum Wage and London Living Wage are to 

increase by 4.85% and 3.43% respectively. 

1,164 1,164 1,164 1,164 

The Commercial and Innovation team will negotiate with 

providers on the inflationary increases to be awarded and this 

will need to be managed through this process. The Care 

Market is particularly fragile with a number of factors which 

are affecting the price-service delivery model. 

All divisions

Based on a target of 5% inflation proposed by the 

Head of Commercial Innovation and Insight, there 

is a shortfall in the inflation budgeted for.  

453 453 453 453 

The Commercial and Innovation team will negotiate with

providers on the inflationary increases to be awarded and this

will need to be managed through this process. The Care

Market is particularly fragile with a number of factors which

are affecting the price-service delivery model. 

All divisions

H&F CCG funding issues are emerging with a risk 

to the overall Better Care Fund and we continue to 

formulate plans with CCG colleagues. 

1,250 1,250 1,250 1,250 

The department has commissioned a piece of work to explore 

the health requirements of local residents to ensure these are 

being met and funded by the appropriate body. The local 

authority and the CCG have agreed to meet fortnightly to 

work through each organisation's financial savings 

programme and maintain front line service provision.

All divisions

Year on year savings from Transformation 

Commissioning Programme are increasingly 

difficult to deliver

748 748 748 748 
The department has a review group which will monitor all 

saving programmes and check progress on delivery. 

All divisions

Grant funding in the Budget (Winter pressures 

money) announced by Chancellor ending after 

2019/2020

0 918 918 918 

All divisions

One-off grant funding in the Budget (Social Care 

Support Grant) announced by Chancellor for 

2019/2020 only

0 784 784 784 

All divisions
Improved Better Care Funding over a 3- year 

period of 2017-2020 (ending in March 2020)
0 8,814 8,814 8,814 

Adult Social Care Total 3,615 14,131 14,131 14,131 

Risk

The department is waiting for the government to publish its 

Green Paper which will outline plans for the long term funding 

of Social Care.

P
age 43



Appendix 2

Council Wide Risk/Challenges

Department & Division Short Description of Risk
2019/20  Value 

(£000's)

2020/21 

Value 

(£000's)

2021/22  

Value 

(£000's)

2022/23  

Value 

(£000's)

Mitigation

Council Wide Budget Risks

Housing Benefits Overpayments 

Income

There is a risk that Housing Benefit Overpayment 

recovery is less than in previous years due to falling 

leves of overpayment and the collection levels of the 

new contractor compared to the previous contractor

                   400              400              400         400 

Review of new debt collection performance and 

exploration of alternatived if it is not performing to 

expectation.

Inflation Provision for increase in inflation (1%)                 2,000           2,000            2,000      2,000 Contracts have been reviewed and renegotiated.

Centrally Managed Budgets Total 2,400 400 400 400 

Overall Risk 25,102 35,804 36,616 37,466

Risk

P
age 44



1

Appendix 3

Draft Budget Equalities Impact Assessment

Overview and Summary

The Council is obliged to set a balanced budget and Council Tax charge in accordance 
with the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  The purpose of this EIA is to assess 
the main items in the budget that will be proposed to Full Council on 27 February 2019.

For 2019/2020, a balanced budget is proposed based on various growth areas, 
efficiency savings, fees, and reserves.  On the basis of that budget, the Council 
proposes an inflation-based 2.7% rise in Council Tax and the application of the 
government’s modelled 2% social care precept.  Further information is set out in the 
accompanying Report.

A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, comply with the requirements 
of the Equality Act 2010 and in particular section 149, the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(“PSED”). This Equalities Impact Assessment (“EIA”) is intended to assist the Council 
in demonstrating its fulfilment of its PSED.  It assesses, as far as is possible on the 
information currently available, the equality impact of the budget through initial equality 
impact assessment of proposals. The requirements of the PSED and case law 
principles are explained in the Legal Implications section of the report to Full Council. 
The Equality Implications section of that report is informed by this analysis.

Methodology

The analysis looks at the impact of Council Tax and Social Care Precept proposals 
and, secondly, at the budget on which that decision is based. Initial equality impact 
assessments have been undertaken of all the proposals at this stage, with a full 
Equality Impact Assessment undertaken for those where potential adverse impact has 
been identified. Equality Impact Assessment is an ongoing process and further 
assessment will be undertaken of policy decisions. This will happen throughout 
2019/20 as part of the Council's decision-making process, and changes will be made 
where appropriate.

The aim in this document is to identify the elements of the budget that may have a 
particular adverse or a particular positive impact on any protected group so that these 
can be taken into account by the Council when taking a final decision on the budget 
and the level of Council Tax. Generally, it is not possible at this stage, and prior to any 
detailed EIA, to identify measures that will mitigate the adverse effects of any particular 
policy decision, although where this is possible mitigating measures are identified at 
the appropriate point in this document.

Page 45



2

Page 46



3

Summary of impact of the proposed budget

Council Tax increase and applying social care precept 

An inflation-based 2.7% increase in Council Tax is proposed and the application of the 
government’s modelled 2% social care precept. This will take Band D Council Tax 
from £727.81 to £762.02.  Council tax is one aspect of local government funding where 
the Council has some discretion to raise additional funds. However, there are Council 
Tax rules in place that limit the extent of any Council Tax increases before a 
referendum is required. The limit for 2019/20 is 4.99% (including the 2% adult social 
care precept) and no referendum will be required for Hammersmith and Fulham.

By increasing Council tax, the Council is able to prevent reductions in services to local 
residents and in so doing can continue to mitigate against adverse impacts facing 
individual households.

This percentage increase will be applied to all bands of council tax, as required by law. 
This will impact on all residents who are eligible to pay Council Tax. The average 
increase in cost per week on a Band D property is £0.65.  Since Council Tax is 
applicable to all properties it is not considered that the increase targets any one 
particular group; rather it is an increase that is applied across the board. At the same 
time because the increase is applied to all properties it is not possible to exempt any 
particular group. 

The impact of Council Tax is mitigated through the Local Council Tax Support scheme 
and other exemptions and discounts. 

Council Tax Exemptions

Some properties are exempt from council tax. The different classes of exemption are 
listed below.

Properties occupied by full time students (they must complete an application form and 
return it to us with a council tax certificate from their place of study); severely mentally 
impaired people; a foreign diplomat who would normally have to pay council tax; 
people who are under 18; members of a visiting force who would normally have to pay 
council tax; or elderly or disabled relatives of a family who live in the main property, in 
certain annexes and self-contained accommodation.

Unoccupied properties that are owned by a charity, are exempt for up to six months; 
are left empty by someone who has moved to receive care in a hospital or home 
elsewhere; are left empty by someone who has gone into prison; are left empty by 
someone who has moved so they can care for someone else; are waiting for probate 
to be granted, and for six months after probate is granted; have been repossessed; 
are the responsibility of a bankrupt's trustee; are waiting for a minister of religion to 
move in,   are left empty by a student whose term-time address is elsewhere, are 
empty because it is against the law to live there, including from 1st April 2007 where 

Page 47



4

a planning condition prevents occupation; form part of another property and may not 
be let separately. 

A pitch or mooring that doesn't have a caravan or boat on it is also exempt.

From 2017/18 the council has also provided discounts for care leavers up to the age 
of 25.

Those who feel they are entitled to an exemption are encouraged to contact the 
Council and information on how to do that is provided by the Council when Council 
Tax Bills are issued. Support for people struggling with their Council Tax Bill is also 
offered through Advice Centres .

The liability for Council Tax is summarised below:

Total dwellings in the borough 88,700

Reductions:

Exemptions (mainly students, includes care leavers) (3,600)

Council tax support claimants (elderly & working age on low 
income)

(11,200)

Single person discount (25% discount) (28,200)

Dwellings liable for 100% of Council tax 45,700

52%

Data on the Local Council Tax Support Scheme identifies that approximately 55% are 
female (higher than the proportion of females in the borough population as a whole, 
which was 51.3% according to the 2011 Census). Pensioners are also 
disproportionately represented (35% of LCTS claimants, but only 9% of Borough 
residents). Based on ONS data on low income groups, it is also likely that disabled 
residents, ethnic minority groups, women on maternity leave, single parents (who are 
normally women) and families with young children are likely to be disproportionally 
represented.

Adult Social Care

Adult Social Care has a number of financial challenges, both locally and nationally. 
The department faces pressure from four directions –  the lack of long-term future 
funding, the need to provide greater support to residents, demographic pressures and 
increased costs.

There are on-going pressures on Adult Social Care budgets due to particular market 
cost pressures and forecast demand growth for care services as a result of increasing 

Page 48



5

numbers of older people, people with disabilities and people with long term health 
conditions needing care. These demographic pressures are exacerbated by 
increasing pressure from hospitals to discharge patients in a timely fashion, 
particularly during the winter months. There is also added pressure from reduced 
capacity to make efficiencies from external care providers without affecting the quality 
of care they provide, along with an increase in homecare costs.

The state of the market and unavoidable cost pressures will continue to be a major 
challenge. Activity and level of complexity is increasing alongside demographic 
changes, workforce pressures from the London Living Wage and the driving down of 
price are all major dynamics that are impacting on the availability and quality of 
services. 

Efficiencies, Additional funding and Fees and Charges

The 2019/20 proposals are detailed in this report. The proposals, which total £3.086m are 
largely continuations of 2018/19 plans with a focus on promoting independence, early 
intervention, process management and staff productivity without any anticipated adverse 
impact on people who use the services. All the proposals therefore have a neutral equalities 
impact.

Promoting independence and improved assessment of payments - £0.950m

Working to improve the consistency, quality and creativity of social work practice will ensure 
the potential for independent living and prevention is at the forefront of all assessments and 
reviews.

This work is being delivered through a number of strands including:

 A strengthened approach to the annual review process
 Reviewing high cost outlier packages
 A review of joint Learning Disability and Mental Health services
 Enhancement of housing allocation and adaptions provisions
 Improving Direct Payments

There are no equalities impacts of this work – eligible care needs will continue to be fully 
met. Proposals will give residents more options for how their support is delivered. 

Jointly improving the earlier planning of young Disabled People transitioning into 
adulthood and move to an Integrated Preparation to Adulthood Service with Children’s 
social care, Education and NHS services) - £0.555m

At the age of 18, young disabled people move from Children’s into Adult Social Care 
Services. Switching from one service to the other can be a stressful experience for young 
people. Improving the transitional period from the age of 14 has been a major focus of the 
department in 2018/19 through the Preparation for Adulthood Programme which has 

Page 49



6

established an integrated Adults/Children’s team. Social Care will work with each SEND 
young person to ensure they are ready for as independent a life as possible. This focus from 
an earlier age will improve young people’s experiences of the transition process and in so 
doing it’s expected that many will avoid the more traditional types of long-term and expensive 
services.

There are no equality implications to this proposal which is Care Act compliant, eligible care 
needs will continue to be met. 

To co-produce a focussed, supportive and proportionate Direct Payment Finance 
Review practice – £0.350m

Direct Payments are a way of residents having more choice and control over the 
care and support they receive, ie by giving them the money directly to choose how 
it’s spent to meet their needs. 

For a variety of reasons including going into hospital, holidays, staying with relatives, 
respite, purchasing care for a cheaper price, gaps in support if a resident decides to 
change provider, availability of Personal Assistants, etc, some residents in receipt of 
a Direct Payment have a significant underspend. These surplus funds need to be 
collected by the Council in a timely and efficient manner. 

This potential for savings by improving the reviewing process has been highlighted 
by recent work from the finance team and internal audit. A saving of £350k 
represents 4% of the predicted total spend on direct payments in 2019/20. 

This efficiency will have a neutral equalities impact. 

Redesign of the in-house community access service - £0.175m

The current substantive focus of the team is on social inclusion for older people, those with 
a physical disability and travel training for young people with a learning disability. The latter 
lasts for up to 12 weeks and supports the development of skills and confidence travelling 
independently. This part of the service could be purchased more flexibly and at a lower cost 
from the voluntary sector. Eligibility criteria will remain the same and careful procurement 
and monitoring of the new provider will ensure that the quality of the service is not reduced 
and therefore a neutral equalities impact. 

Agency Staff Reductions - £0.400m

There was a significant increase in the amount of money being spent on agency staff in 
2017/18. Whist there are a number of legitimate reasons for this increase, generally agency 
staff represent a less cost-effective option than full-time members of staff. Adult Social Care 
has set up a Staffing and Resources Board which will require a detailed justification to be 
provided before the hiring of any agency staff. A review and cost-analysis is also being 
undertaken for existing agency staff. These measures will ensure that agency staff are only 

Page 50



7

used where absolutely necessary and after first considering full-time, part-time and fixed term 
options. Savings will be achieved by making better use of a variety of contract options and 
reviewing annual leave and overtime for agency staff.   The number of staff and service they 
provide will not be decreased, instead the proposal will bring more stability to the service. 
The equalities impact is therefore considered neutral for both residents and staff. 

Improving productivity for review and assessment work through improved standard 
and target setting and working to the principle of proportionality - £0.300m

The Interim Assistant Director conducted a review of operational efficiency which determined 
that there needs to be a greater focus on target setting and productivity in the assessment 
and reviews processes with a greater focus on proportionality. 

The equalities impact is considered neutral for both residents and staff.

Public Health Funding the Meals on Wheels Service - £0.128m

The meals service is currently funded as part of the Council’s net budget requirement. the 
social care general fund. This proposal is for alternative investment, as in neighbouring 
boroughs, from Public Health Grant.  

Whilst managing and maintaining nutrition is a statutory Care Act outcome, the Meals Service 
adds substantial value to some residents who are not eligible for social care. This may be 
because they do not have needs associated with the  priority Care Act outcomes (the national 
eligibility threshold that is applied locally) and/or alternatives would not meet their needs 
around social isolation, monitoring wellbeing and safeguarding or mental illness as that 
provided by a fully prepared nutritious meal and a daily visit.  

Moving the funding of the Meals on Wheels service from Adults Social Care to Public Health 
will have no equality implications – there is no intention to reduce the level of service. 

Improved productivity of the brokerage function through the use of targets and tighter 
controls – £0.100m

The brokerage team is responsible for co-ordinating care home placements. It has been 
operating as a sovereign service since October 1st 2018, having previously been shared with 
the City of Westminster and Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. The move to a 
sovereign service brings opportunities to tighten up business processes and rectify workflow 
issues which have impacted on timely movement and costs. In particular, savings have been 
identified in speeding up the financial assessment and income collection process. 

There are no equalities implications arising from this change. 

West London Mental Health Commissioned Peer Support Service review - 
successfully completed and implemented - £0.060m

Page 51



8

The Council works closely with the West London Mental Health Trust to deliver integrated 
health and social care services to residents with mental health support needs. People who 
have previously been supported by the service can volunteer to support those who may use 
it in the future and help them develop coping mechanisms. The service has been declining 
in popularity and now needs to be reviewed. Based on current levels, it could be supported 
within existing staffing structures rather than require use of the support service. Therefore, 
the viability of the co-ordinator post which costs £60k per annum needs to be reviewed. The 
service will still be supported using existing resources and there are therefore neutral 
equalities implications. 

Withdrawal from the West London Alliance Social Care contributions (Social Care and 
PSR) -  successfully completed and implemented - £0.021m

The West London Alliance does not provide a front-line service, the Council only uses its 
market analytics and similar services which can be provided in other ways. Withdrawing 
contributions will have no impact on the public or staff and has no equalities implications. 

Further promote independence through planning transport options – £0.011m

This efficiency saving has focused on reviewing the transport options for residents who use 
day centres, making the process more person-focused, i.e.  planning transport with residents 
not for them, using alternative and flexible options where possible. Savings will be made 
through considering a wider range of options and thus minimising the use of taxis which can 
be expensive. 

This is the continuation of an efficiency saving from the 2018/19 budget which sought to save 
£0.099m by taking an asset-based approach to transport. The ‘quick-wins’ having been 
achieved, the target savings in the 2019/20 budget is correspondingly smaller. 

This proposal will have a neutral equalities impact, attendees of day centres will continue to 
be provided with support to ensure travel is not a barrier to their attendance. 

Review of benchmarking performance indicators for PFI homes - £0.036m

This saving comes from reclaiming voids across the 3 Council PFI sites. There will be no 
equalities implications as the PFI home only loses money when there is spare capacity not 
being utilised to meet demand for care. Residents will not be affected by this measure.  

Additional funding for Social Care

The 2019/20 Budget includes provision of £4.1m for adult social care spend pressures 
and inflation. In addition to the use of the Adult Social Care precept part of these 
pressures will be met from increased better care funding grant of £1.8m and winter 
pressures grant of £0.9m.

Page 52



9

Additional commitments

1. Contract inflation and Living Wage Implications

The Department continues to receive price increase requests from providers as well 
as requests to fund the implementation of the National and London Living Wage 
which providers are looking for the Council to fund. These are both set to increase 
considerably (NLW - 4.85% in April next year and LLW - 3.43%). 

2. Care Market Pressures

The Adult Social Care service continues to endure significant budget pressures 
driven by increased demand and acuity of need for home care and direct payments. 
The new monies come with expectations to purchase additional capacity to assist 
with better hospital discharge and investment to improve quality. 

3. Demographics

Continued demographic increases due to clients living longer with more complex 
health needs continues to drive demand for social care services. 

4. Learning Disability Transitions

This money is set aside to fund Learning Disability packages for clients that 
transition from Children’s services to Adult Social Care, which occurs when they turn 
18. Packages range from Direct Payments and Home Care to Placements where 
average costs are £1,100 per week. 

In summary, both sets of this additional funding will have a positive impact on all 
residents who use our services because the growth received will enable the 
department to keep providing the service as required by those who use our services. 

Fees and Charges

Meals on Wheels:   No change in charge proposed

LBHF provides a meal service for customers of the borough and charges a flat rate 
contribution towards the service (£2).

Meals services are currently provided to customers by the contractor Sodexo Ltd. The 
contract is set to end on 7th April 2019 and there are different options currently being 
considered as to how this service is delivered beyond this date. 

Our procurement framework requires us to consider EIA implications of re-
commissions in a proportionate way and this will happen in due course. 

Page 53



10

Maintaining the current price is expected to have a positive impact on BME user 
groups as well as other users as a price freeze will improve their financial position and 
overall wellbeing.

Earlier in this report, it was proposed that the funding of this service move to Public 
Health grant funding, regardless of whether or not this happens, there will be no 
change in charge. 

Careline: No change in charge proposed

There is no change proposed in the Careline charge for 2019/20, this will be the third 
year the Careline charges will remain unchanged. This will have a positive impact as 
it will improve the financial position of residents in real terms.

Page 54



11

1.  General Fund Savings Proposals - £1,263k in 2019/20

 
 Ref No. Description 2019/20 saving 

(£’000s) 

Savings CHS1 
Increased and earlier 
provision of housing for care 
leavers 

159 

Savings CHS4A Travel Care & Independence 
Solutions - Productivity 95 

Savings CHS4B Travel Care Contracts and 
Pathways 165 

Savings CHS5 Efficiencies in use of Escorts 
and Support Staff 40 

Savings 
CHS6  

Fostering Agency / Inhouse 
placements  to Special 
Guardianship orders 

105 

Savings CHS7  Enhanced placement 
oversight and management 50 

Savings CHS8 New Approach/Service for 
Adolescents  50 

Savings CHS10 Enhanced Fostering/secure 
base  599 

 
CHS 1 – Increased and earlier provision of housing for care leavers 
This proposal is to improve and create a range of flexible housing and support 
solutions for Looked after children (aged 16+) and care leavers with low to medium 
needs and risks.    The proposal aims to increase flexibility and sufficiency of the 
supply of accommodation for this co-hort. 

The plan is to provide an increased and improved range of services to ensure that the 
young people have the right housing option available for them and to support them to 
move towards sustainable independence. This should positively impact those with key 
protected characteristics benefiting from the service including marginalised and 
stigmatised young people with complex needs and disabilities.   
 
CHS 4.A  - Travel Care & Independence Solutions - Productivity - Working with 
users of the travel service to promote independent travel training. Making sure 
all of our routes are well planned and efficient. Savings from the Crown 
Commercial Tickets Contract. Working with Adults Social Care to better plan 
arrangements for 19+ 
 
Travel Care Service Area Engagement / Surgeries  
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN transport users.  It is aimed to 
ensure efficiency in contract management and procurement arrangements only and 
we would continue to work with our current range of providers.  There would be no 
impact on the quality of services provided to service user 

 

Page 55



12

Adopting Crown Commercial Contract for Train, Flight & Accommodation 
bookings 
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN transport users.  It is aimed to 
ensure efficiency in contract management and procurement arrangements only, with 
an expectation that the service specification would remain even if provision moves to 
a different provider.  There would be no impact on the quality of services provided to 
service users.  
 
ASC / SEN Co-working 
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN users.  It is aimed at 
identifying those instances where passenger assistance services can be safely 
combined, to achieve efficiency in the use of resources, but with no impact on the 
safety or quality of services provided to service users.  
 
CCG contribution towards medically related needs 
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN users as it is aimed at 
ensuring fair and equitable cost sharing arrangements are in place between 
responsible bodies in health and the public sector and it will not impact on service 
delivery.  
 
Annual review of Travel Care Plans and Route Reviews 
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN users where the review 
shows that the current level of provision is suitable to the need of the service user.  
For those that may not already have suitable provision the proposal should have a 
positive impact as their needs will be reviewed and met.  Overall it is expected to 
provide positive outcomes through being responsive and pro-active in identifying 
changing levels of needs and adjusting services to match these needs. 
 
CHS 4.B Travel Care Contracts and Pathways - More users receive support and 
Independent Taxi Travel Training. The contract for travel to Jack Tizard school 
is renegotiated. Effective preparation for adulthood pathways delivered by 
SEND service reducing demand for post 19 travel care support. (3 year lead 
in) 
 
Support to SEN and Local Offer team to promote and implement independent 
travel training 
The proposal is likely to have a positive impact on service users who participate as it 
will promote safety awareness skills and will help move them to greater 
independence and could, for some users, provide greater flexibility in when they 
travel as opposed to waiting for transport to arrive at home.   
 
Independent Taxi Training 
The proposal is likely to have a positive impact on service users who rely on 
transport by taxi due to distances they have to travel from home to school. It will 
promote safety awareness skills and greater flexibility as they move towards greater 
independence. 
  
Negotiation of the Jack Tizard transport contract with CT Plus 
The proposal is likely to have a neutral impact on SEN transport users.  It is aimed to 
ensure efficiency in contract management and procurement arrangements only, with 

Page 56



13

an expectation that the service specification would remain unchanged even if 
provision moves to a different provider.  There would be no impact on the quality of 
services provided to service users. 
 
Adulthood Pathways 
The proposal is likely to have a positive impact by providing a wider range of 
alternatives to post 19 year olds, other than formal education provision due to 
improved preparation of pupils for greater independence in adulthood.  

CHS 5 – Efficiencies in use of Escorts and Support Staff - Improving the way we 
organise and manage spending on providing escorts, to support children 
travelling to contact meetings/appointments that are part of their care plan.    
This proposal is to review the way that the provision of escorts to support children 
travelling to contact meetings and appointments is managed.  This is currently 
organised on an ad-hoc basis using sessional family support staff. 

The proposal will have a neutral impact on young people with protected 
characteristics.  It is not to change the service being delivered but the way it’s being 
delivered by looking at more cost-efficient delivery models. 
 
CHS 6 – Fostering Agency / Inhouse placements to Special Guardianship orders 
- Giving children the security of a Special Guardianship order where they are 
long term placed with foster carers, thereby reducing agency costs. 
This proposal is to encourage families who are caring for children in care long term to 
apply for a Special Guardianship Order under the Children Act 1989. This confers 
parental responsibility for the child to the carers and achieves legal permanency status 
for the young person concerned. The young person is no longer categorised as a 
Looked After Child and is no longer in the care of the Local Authority but the Local 
Authority commits to providing ongoing post order support to the carers and paying 
them a special guardianship allowance. There are benefits to the child of no longer 
being in care and there are cost benefits to the Local Authority as they will no longer 
be paying fees to an Independent Fostering Agency 
 
The proposal will have a positive impact on young people as the young person would 
be fully absorbed into their families and not stigmatised by remaining a child in care.  
A special guardianship order provides greater security for the young person and 
normalises their family experience and is only granted if it is agreed by the carers, the 
child (if applicable) and the Local Authority as being in the child’s best interests. 
 
CHS 7 – Enhanced placement oversight and management  
This proposal is to improve day to day management and financial oversight of 
children’s placements by enhancing management oversight by regular panels and 
placement model tracking. 

The proposal will have a neutral impact on young people with protected 
characteristics.  It will act as a trigger to ensure that management are satisfied that 
young people are in the most appropriate placement based on the balance of cost and 
need without impacting on individual children’s care plans and safeguarding 
considerations.   
 

Page 57



14

CHS8 – Building a new improved approach/service for adolescents through 
relationship building, tackling knives, gang and youth violence

This proposal aims to improve how services are provided to adolescents with the aim 
to develop a one team approach to build relationships with young people who do not 
respond positively to a traditional social work model. 

The proposal includes improving services for young people with key protected 
characteristics.  These include young people at risk of child sexual exploitation, being 
involved in gangs, low self-esteem and mental health, offending behaviour, substance 
mis-use and going missing.  The proposal aims to improve outcomes for these young 
people by reducing those entering the criminal justice system, reducing being placed 
into care and reducing the number of young people not in education, employment, or 
training. 
 
CHS 10 – Enhanced Fostering/secure base - Developing a scheme for the most 
experienced foster carers with high support from the LA to take children with 
higher needs currently in residential care 
This proposal aims to select a pool of approximately 5 in-house foster carers to 
undertake a bespoke training package designed and facilitated within the current 
Fostering service and aligned to the Secure Base model of care. On completion of the 
training, a sample of children currently placed within high-cost residential units will be 
carefully identified to return to in-borough placements with carers that have undertaken 
the secure base training model. 

The proposal aims to improve services for young people with key protected 
characteristics.  The Secure Base Model provides a framework for caregivers and for 
those who support them to think in more detail about the different but connected 
caregiving approaches that can help a child to move towards greater security. It is a 
positive, strengths based approach that focuses on the interaction between the 
caregiver and the child, but also considers how that relationship can enable the child 
to develop competence in the outside world and manage often complex relationships 
with birth family members. 

 
2. General Fund Growth Proposals - Total £3,260k in 2019/20 

 
 Ref No. 2019/20 

Growth 
£000s 

Description 

Growth CHSG1 2,050 Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers growth pressure 

Growth CHSG2 232 Dubs cases growth pressure 

Growth CHSG3 
612 Maintaining diversionary teams to 

prevent further escalation in LAC 
placements 

Growth CHSG4 350 Family Support and Child Protection – 
Demand led additional team 

Growth CHSG5 16 Direct Payment Minimum Wage 

Page 58



15

 
CHSG 1 – Looked After Children and Care Leavers demand led pressure 
The growth request to align budget with the cost of the current cohort of Looked After 
children and Care Leavers would ensure resource provision against which savings 
initiatives with respect to placement expenditure could be delivered. The proposal 
would have a neutral impact on children in supported placements.
  
CHSG 2 – DUBs placements pressure  
The growth request to align budget with the actual net cost commitment of children 
looked after as a result of the DUBs scheme. The proposal would have a neutral 
impact on children in supported placements.  

CHSG 3 - Maintaining diversionary teams to prevent further escalation in LAC 
placements 
This proposal aims to maintain the LAC and Family Assist teams.  These teams 
have been in place for 2 years. 

The teams currently work with young people with key protected characteristics, this 
proposal has either a neutral or positive impact by ensuring that the quality and 
timeliness of interventions are minimising any adverse effect on disrupting family 
lives of already disadvantaged and vulnerable residents. 

The Family Assist team offer intensive time limited support for adolescents that are 
at high risk of becoming looked after.  The service work intensively with young 
people who would otherwise have been in care or returning from a short period in 
care sustaining them within their families and community. 

The LAC Assist team works intensively with children and young people who are in 
care in higher cost placements where there are opportunities to step them down to 
lower cost provision, return them home or stabilise a placement. 
 
CHSG4 - Family Support and Child Protection – Demand led Additional Team 
This proposal is to maintain the 5th team within FSCP.   This team has been created 
based on pressure due to increasing caseloads and referrals for child protection 
cases and the need to allocate cases based on complexity to the most appropriately 
qualified social workers. 

This proposal covers young people who cover a range of protected characteristics.  
This 5th team enables earlier intervention to be maintained ensuring the best 
outcome for families and prevention of entering care where appropriate. 
 
CHSG5 – Direct Payment Minimum Wage 
This proposal does not involve a service change but ensures that direct payments 
allow for minimum wage legislation. 
 

 

Page 59



16

Public Services Reform 

Departmental Restructure - £0.500m

As part of the bedding in of the service there will be some restructuring drawing on 
existing vacancies. These changes are not anticipated to have any equality impact 
on commissioned service delivery delivered by providers on behalf of the council.

Adult Homelessness - Wood Lane - £0.186m

This involved closing a short- term hostel and moving the remaining residents to 
alternative accommodation. An EIA was completed as part of the process and formal 
consultation undertaken. No adverse impact was identified in the assessment.  The 
summary analysis is provided. All residents have now been successfully moved to 
new settings appropriate to their needs. The saving is the full year effect of this 
change. 

Older People – Bishop Creighton House – H&F Connect - £0.070m

This saving relates to the closure of the service for older people following the expiry 
of the contract. This was identified as having a potential adverse impact on older 
people but officers identified sufficient alternative provision of activities provided in 
sheltered housing and in the general community to mitigate this impact, resulting in a 
revised neutral impact overall in the full EIA completed at the time.   

Page 60



17

Finance & Governance
The majority of Finance and Governance savings relate to managing and procuring 
contracts more effectively and efficiencies relating to back office staff and functions. 
As such there are no adverse equality implications for any particular groups, residents 
and employees alike, with protected characteristics. Where proposals affect staff, 
more detailed impact assessment will follow in line with the HR policy and procedure.

 

Efficiencies in Member printing through digitisation – Proposed saving of 
£0.030m

All committee papers from 8th May are now sent via a web link or access from an Office 
365 Shared Folder, agendas are no longer printed for Members. 

There are no adverse equality implications for any particular groups, residents and 
employees alike, with protected characteristics

Efficiencies in Mayor’s catering spend – Proposed Saving £0.005m

The Mayor regularly attends ticketed events and hold various receptions in the parlour.  
It is proposed that the attendance of events be restricted to in-Borough activities. The 
in-Borough events should not be catered for. There are no adverse equality 
implications for any particular groups, residents and employees alike, with protected 
characteristics.

Efficiencies in Election Staffing – Proposed Savings of £0.004m
The proposal is to cover the activities within the team with some agency 
administrative support at peak periods. to ensure continued quality of service for 
local residents. The impact for residents is neutral. 

Internal Audit Provision efficiencies – Proposed Saving of £0.010m
The saving proposed consists of keeping the total cost of purchased internal audit 
provision via the Croydon framework at the 2017/18 level. This will result in a 
reduction of around 60 days against the days budgeted for 2018/19 and deliver a 
future saving. It is considered that sufficient coverage can be achieved to deliver the 
annual audit opinion and report for 2018/19 (as required under the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards). On this basis the equality impact is considered neutral. 

Review of Contingency Budgets - Pension Auto Enrolment has identified a 
saving – Proposed saving of £0.250m
The pensions auto enrolment contingency was held to cover any increases in 
employers’ pension contributions resulting from the implementation of the final 
stages of pension auto enrolment.  Analysis of employers’ pension costs as a 

Page 61



18

percentage of salary costs has stayed constant since this was implemented 
indicating no adverse costs resulting from the changes.

There will be a neutral impact on employees with protected characteristics. The 
reduction of contingency budgets has no direct impact on residents or employees. 

A review of the payments made to the pension fund to cover unfunded 
pension costs from historic redundancy decisions shows that there is a 
current underspend.  This is a cost that is likely to reduce over time so the 
realignment of the budget is low risk – Proposed savings of £0.100m

The council makes payments to the pension fund for the costs of historic redundancy 
decisions that were, from a pension fund perspective, unfunded at the time.  Over 
time these costs have reduced and a review of the spend against budget shows that 
a saving can be delivered in this area.

There will be a neutral impact on employees with protected characteristics. The 
reduction of contingency budgets has no direct impact on residents or employees.

Review of external spending and income has identified underspends in relation 
to Levy payments and income from the London Residual Body (for the LBHF 
share of income from the London Eye site) – Proposed savings of £0.040m

A review of income and expenditure has been conducted across the finance 
budgets.  This exercise has identified savings of £0.040m in relation to Levy 
payments and income received form the London Residual Body (for the LBHF share 
of the London Eye income). 

There will be a neutral impact on employees with protected characteristics. The 
reduction of back office budgets has no direct impact on residents or employees. 

Renegotiation of Virtual Desktop Interface Contract – proposed saving of 
£0.200m

The current VDI service is delivered through the Desktop contract. The current VDI 
contract has been extended after October 2018 to ensure service continuity while we 
migrate to the new desktop strategy. The third party supplier would only extend for a 
12 month period from November 2018 due to commitments on infrastructure and 
licensing. The Chief Information Officer has negotiated a reduction of support costs 
and the removal of a management fee during that period. 

The saving is only shown for 2019/20 because the removal of VDI contributes to a 
separate proposal to save up to £1.4m annually through the re-design of the desktop 
strategy.

Page 62



19

There will be a neutral impact on employees with protected characteristics. The 
renegotiation of the virtual desktop interface contract will have no direct impact on 
residents or employees. 

Renegotiation and rationalisation of contracts in IT services – Proposed 
Saving of £1.0m

The revised desktop strategy was agreed by cabinet in March 2018. The strategy 
covers the implementation of one mobile device and a smartphone for each member 
of staff to replace current office-based virtual desktops, Bring Your Own Device 
support and desk phones. Currently the Council has 4,100 desktops and laptops and 
it is proposed to replace these with 3,000 mobile devices i.e. laptop or convertible 
tablet; plus, approximately 200 new desktops for public access areas.

The new service is currently being designed with third-party suppliers to deliver up to 
£1.4m in savings from 2020/21 (of which £1m will be delivered in 2019/20) on the 
current £3.6m budget for the desktop service. 

There will be a neutral impact on employees with protected characteristics. Where 
employees currently need specialist software or equipment this will be reviewed and 
replaced where necessary. Where updated software is available this will be installed. 
The reduction of contingency budgets has no direct impact on residents or employees.

Page 63



20

Corporate Services
The majority of Corporate Services’ savings relate to increasing income opportunities, 
managing and procuring contracts more effectively and efficiencies relating to back 
office staff and functions. There are no adverse equality implications for any particular 
groups or residents with protected characteristics. Where proposals affect staff, more 
detailed impact assessment will follow in line with the HR policy and procedure. 

HR Staffing - Proposed Saving of £0.156m
Following the restructure of HR & OD in 2018/19, two key posts were kept in as the 
senior business partners.  These posts were to retain corporate knowledge and skills 
given the loss of key staff over recent months.

These two posts (deputy HoHR) head up the corporate and schools’ functions.  With 
planned transition they can be deleted subject to successful recruitment to the 
consultant levels below them. 

There will be a neutral impact on staff with protected characteristics. Where there are 
staff changes leading to savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part 
of the reorganisation process. 

Decommissioning of the Midland Licence – Proposed Saving of £0.045m
The Council has maintained a read-only version of the Midland HR system following 
the implementation of Agresso – this was maintained in case an urgent re-
instatement of the former HR Payroll system was required.  The Council still needs 
to maintain the data but an alternative archiving solution could be implemented 
removing the need for Midland HR Licences. 

There will be a neutral impact on employees, proposal still allows sensitive data to 
be accessed securely via an alternative method. 

HR Schools Traded Model – Proposed saving (through increased income) of 
£0.030m
Development of new products for a pay-as-you-go schools service including 
microsite for schools’ recruitment advertising (one off cost to set up and charges per 
post and upselling). Other products include offers for occupational health service, 
revised payroll offer possibly with a commercial partner, benchmarking service, 
business efficiency and training. 

There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving is enhancing an offer already offered to schools and will improve 
back office functions.

Page 64



21

Data maximisation to develop customer application – Proposed saving of 
£0.025m
The council holds data and information on a range of licenced premises and 
activities.  This information could be used to create an app and information about the 
businesses and activities in the borough, eg food ratings.  The app could be 
developed to get users feedback and crowd sourced reviews.  Local activities and 
other information (road closures, transport through open source data) could also be 
shared.  

Advertising revenue and products sold could generate income, such as funding 
streams through Public Health for health promotions, gym and activity advertising, 
etc. 

There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving intends to generate income through advertising.

LBHF Website Advertising – Proposed Saving of £0.030m
The proposal concerns selling targeted advertising space on the council’s website.  
There will be a neutral impact on individuals with protected characteristics. The 
proposed saving intends to generate income through advertising.

Leader’s Office Reduction – Proposed saving of £0.050m
The business case proposes a reduction on one administrator post.

There will be a neutral impact on staff with protected characteristics. Where there are 
staff changes leading to savings, Equality Impact Assessments are carried out as part 
of the reorganisation process. 

Page 65



22

Growth & Place
Efficiency Savings 

Planning staffing efficiencies - £0.328m

This relates to a review of the structure of the Planning service. Wherever possible, 
any reduction in establishment will be absorbed through natural wastage and existing 
vacancies. An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of the 
reorganisation process.

Temporary accommodation - Reduction Programme and investment in Private 
Rented Sector properties - £0.250m

It is not anticipated that there will be any direct negative impact on groups with 
protected characteristics from the investment in private rented sector leases nor from 
the piloting of a PRS team.

The Council already has a policy of offering Direct Lets to households that become 
homeless, as an alternative to Temporary Accommodation. The proposal is to extend 
this practice by procuring additional Direct Lets and offering them to households 
already in Temporary Accommodation as a means of exit from Temporary 
Accommodation.  Direct Lets will not be offered to all households, just to households 
that meet criteria around suitability and affordability (to sustain living in the private 
rented sector). Applying these criteria, and the possibility of Direct Lets offers, to all 
homeless households is deemed to be a fairer approach than the current practice of 
only applying the criteria to households when they first approach the Council.

A crucial safeguard is the fact that the Equality Act 2010 and Homelessness (Suitability 
of Accommodation) (England) Order 2012 requires the Council to ensure that any 
property offered must be suitable and takes into account the specific needs of the 
individual. This incorporates affordability, location, access to relevant services, an 
individual’s ability to travel, etc. The overall potential impact on different protected 
groups is assessed as neutral.

Housing Solutions staff savings - £0.141m

This relates to a review of the structure of the Housing Solutions service. Wherever 
possible, any reduction in establishment will be absorbed through natural wastage and 
existing vacancies. The impact on residents will be neutral and the impact on 
employees with protected characteristics is also expected to be neutral. An Equality 
Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of the reorganisation process.

Page 66



23

Restructure of the Work Matters Service & Section 106 investment - £0.060m

This restructure will enable the delivery of key outcomes for the Council’s Industrial 
Strategy including community outreach to connect residents and school students with 
the new opportunities arising from the council’s partnership with Imperial College. 
Focus will be shifted to ways of creating employment within the Tech, STEM, science, 
digital and creative industries. The new strategy also demands that resources are put 
into assisting those in working poverty into better paid work via training. This aims to 
increase social mobility and reduce child poverty. 

An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out as part of the reorganisation 
process. 

Page 67



24

Residents’ Services
RS1 Cycle street furniture advertising - £0.025m

Advertising revenue will be increased by utilising the space available on cycle street 
furniture. This will not adversely impact any specific user groups. 

RS6 Better procurement in parks - £0.050m

Rationalisation of council contracts where similarities exist (e.g. Housing and Parks 
do similar things to highways but use different contractors). Currently working with 
Parks to deliver their footpath programme using the Highways framework contractor. 
This will have a neutral impact on residents of the borough. 

RS11 Events income - £0.030m

Utilising the parks and open spaces within the borough to maximise commercial 
rental income will result in approximately £30,000 of additional income. The charge 
will be met by the event’s organiser and it is not believed that this will have a 
negative impact on any specific user group. 

RS12 Licensing for companies using parks for large exercise groups - £0.010m

The initiative will see increased revenue through the introduction of charges for 
professional group trainers in local parks. This is already common place in the 
surrounding areas with the Royal Parks, Wandsworth, Ealing and Kensington and 
Chelsea already benefiting from this measure. This will enable better regulation of 
areas with heavy usage thereby making the park more enjoyable for all users. This 
initiative will not impact any specific user groups.

RS13 Improved leisure facilities contract - £0.030m

Leisure centres have recently been renovated meaning all users will benefit from 
access to higher quality sports facilities. The increased usage is expected to bring 
financial benefits to the Council.

Page 68



25

RS14 Various small initiatives including 2017/18 underspends, sponsorship, 
sustainable planting - £0.018m

RS14 is the amalgamation of minor savings initiatives. The majority of this is made 
up of underspends on 2017/18 budgets. This will have no impact on the service 
provided and will therefore not affect any specific user groups. Small savings will 
also be made from changes to maintenance contracts, for example, reducing costs 
by using low maintenance sustainable plants.

RS19 A review of the Licensing team - £0.010m

This initiative involves reviewing the current working arrangements of the licencing 
team. By reviewing Section 113 arrangements with Kensington and Chelsea and 
officer responsibilities it is expected that a reduction in management costs will occur. 
These changes are not anticipated to have any impact on service delivery to 
residents. Any staffing changes will go through the outlined HR procedures. 

RS29 Increase legal disbursements income - £0.010m

Increased income will be generated from an increase in Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) 
activity by Street Enforcement targeting waste dumping and fly tipping. This will not 
have any impact on any specific groups as the use of these legal notices includes 
the requirement for a public interest test and an assessment of the scale and nature 
of the offence committed and the appropriateness of serving the notice. The issuing 
of FPN’s will be proportionate, justified and targeted against the worst offenders.  

RS46 CCTV staff - investment of applicable S.106 - £0.080m

This saving will not have any impact on the residents of the borough or staff. The 
saving will be made on a substitute funding basis, meaning the exact same service 
will be available but the funding of this will come from alternative sources. 

RS47 CCTV maintenance - investment of applicable S.106 - £0.040m

£40,000 is currently spent on maintenance of the council’s CCTV service.  By 
funding this through S106 funding it will free up the revenue budget to be spent 
elsewhere in the council. Altering the funding source will not have any impact on the 
service which is currently supplied and will therefore have no adverse equalities 
impact. 

Page 69



26

RS35 Increase commercial waste income - £0.020m

By increasing the flexibility of fees and charges for commercial waste, the council will 
be able to attract customers from different areas of the market. Moving from the 
current rigid fee structure will not impact any specific user groups. 

RS36 Targeted increase in recycling - £0.116m

This saving will be made by increasing the recycling rate within the borough. Waste 
disposal rates for 2018/19 are estimated to be £27.00 per tonne for recycling and 
£155.80 for general waste. Therefore, diverting waste from the general waste stream 
to recycling allows for significant savings. This proposal will not adversely impact any 
user groups. 

RS49 More robust enforcement strategy for night time waste - £0.083m

This saving relates to the current clear all waste policy.  At present all waste left out 
overnight is removed by the council. It is proposed that instead of removing waste 
the council will take more of an enforcement approach and will ensure waste is 
disposed of correctly. This will focus on increasing income through commercial 
revenue and ensuring waste collection is paid for by the appropriate party. The 
council will issue fines if waste procedures are not adhered to. This imitative will not 
have an impact on any specific user groups. 

RS52 End subsidy for Shepherd's Bush convenience used by TfL bus drivers -
£0.024m

The toilets at Shepherds Bush Green is the last toilet in the borough which receives 
any subsidy. The toilets have minimum usage, ie mainly used by TFL bus drivers. 
Eliminating the whole toilet budget will result in £24,000 savings. It is not believed 
that this initiative will have an impact on any protected characteristics as the toilet is 
rarely used by members of the public. 

RS39 Deletion of Business Support posts - £0.050m

The Business Support function is currently operating with a number of vacant posts. 
Deleting these posts will have no impact on service delivery or on the staff in the 
team.

Page 70



27

Conclusion on impact on the budget 

Adult Social Care 

The assessment of proposed efficiencies and savings does not indicate any negative 
equalities impact on individuals or groups with protected characteristics. A number of 
the planned initiatives will have a positive impact on those with protected 
characteristics with their focus on promoting independence and early intervention.  

Children’s Services

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impacts on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics. Many of the planned initiatives focus on early intervention and 
independence and as such are anticipated to have a positive impact for those with 
protected characteristics.

Public Services Reform

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impacts on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics which have not been mitigated. Most of the initiatives focus on efficient 
operations.

Finance and Governance

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impact on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics. Most of the initiatives focus on more efficient operations in the back 
office and management of contracts. 

Corporate Services

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impact on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics. Most of the initiatives focus on income opportunities, managing and 
procuring services better and back office efficiencies. 

Growth and Place

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impacts on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics. 

Page 71



28

Resident’s Services

The assessment of the proposed efficiencies and savings by the department does not 
indicate any negative equalities impact on individuals or groups with protected 
characteristics. The focus is mainly on income generation, improved contract 
management and back office efficiencies.

Conclusion

Overall the collective budget proposals are likely to have a neutral equalities impact 
although some proposals are likely to have positive equalities impacts. 

As proposals are developed further, the assessment to date will be built upon and the 
impact will be assessed further and any mitigating measures identified where 
appropriate.

Ultimately if, on further analysis, it is decided that any particular proposed policy would 
have an unreasonable detrimental impact on any protected group then that policy will 
be reviewed.

Page 72



Appendix 4

Social Care Fees & Charges Exceptions

Fee Description
2018/19 Charge 

(£)

2019/20 Charge 

(£)

Proposed 

Variation (%)
Reason For Variation Not At Standard Rate 

Meals service charges £2.00 £2.00 0.0%

There is no change proposed in the flat rate contribution residents will pay 

towards the meal service for 2019/20. This will be the fourth year the meals 

charge will remain unchanged. However, the meals numbers are continuing 

to increase year on year hence the revised estimated income stream figure 

for both years.

1. Careline Alarm Gold Service (Pendant)

Private Clients ( Home owners & Private Sector Tenants) £23.14 £23.14 0.0%

Council Non-Sheltered or Housing Association (RSL) Tenants £17.21 £17.21 0.0%

2. Careline Alarm Silver Service (Pendant) - Monitoring Service 

only

Private Clients ( Home owners & Private Sector Tenants) £16.12 £16.12 0.0%

Council Non-Sheltered or Housing Association (RSL) Tenants £10.30 £10.30 0.0%

3. Careline Alarm Gold Service (Pull cord) - Emergency 

Response & Monitoring Service

(A) Provided to Registered Social Landlord Sheltered 

Accommodations (RSL Financed)
£6.76 £6.76 0.0%

There is no change proposed in the Careline charge in 2019/20, which will 

be no change for three years. We expect an improvements in the income 

collection following a review of billing, income collection processes and the 

introduction of direct debit facilities for customers.

Page 1

P
age 73



Appendix 4

Children's Services Fees & Charges Exceptions

Fee Description
2018/19 Charge 

(£)

2019/20 Charge 

(£)

Proposed 

Variation (%)
Reason For Variation Not At Standard Rate 

School Meal Fees

School Meals- Primary (Pupils) £1.80 0.0%

School Meals- Secondary (Pupils) £1.90 0.0%

School Meals- Primary (Adults) £3.15 0.0%

School Meals- Secondary (Adults) £3.15 0.0%

Professional Development Centre

Education Staff

Meeting Room £80.00 £80.00 0.0%

Boardroom £165.00 £165.00 0.0%

Training Suite £195.00 £195.00 0.0%

Conference Room £245.00 £245.00 0.0%

LBHF EX EDU

Meeting Room £110.00 £110.00 0.0%

Boardroom £220.00 £220.00 0.0%

Training Suite £245.00 £245.00 0.0%

Conference Room £300.00 £300.00 0.0%

External Users

Meeting Room £100.00 £100.00 0.0%

Boardroom £250.00 £250.00 0.0%

Training Suite £375.00 £375.00 0.0%

Conference Room £400.00 0.0%

Review indicates that an increase could make the hire of rooms at the 

professional development Centre (Lilla Husset) uncompetitive. The 

review is expected to conclude in the new year.

Page 2

P
age 74



Appendix 4

Growth & Place Fees & Charges Exceptions

Fee Description
2018/19 

Charge (£)

2019/20 

Charge (£)

Proposed 

Variation (%)
Reason For Variation Not At Standard Rate 

Private Sector Leasing

Private Sector Leasing Water Charges Varies Varies

Subject to 

water 

company 

increase,  

expected in 

January 2019

The charge is determined by the annual increase set by the water companies. 

Bed and Breakfast Temporary Accommodation

B & B Amenity Charges - Single Adult £10.56 £10.56 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - Two Adults £13.51 £13.51 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - Single Adult & Children £11.14 £11.14 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - Two Adults and Children £14.07 £14.07 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - Three Adults and Children £17.12 £17.12 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - Four Adults and Children £19.94 £19.94 0.0%

B & B Amenity Charges - any additional adult £2.92 £2.92 0.0%

From the 7th November 2016, the benefits caps were reduced from  £26,000 per 

annum to £23,000 for Lone  parents and Couples households and from £18,200 to 

£15,410 for Singles, in London. Any increase in fees is likely to be irrecoverable.

Private Sector Leasing Rent (average per week)

£257.04 as at 

22 November 

2017

£251.54 as at 

24 October 

2018

na

Since April 2012, the PSL rent threshold has been based on the January 2011 Local 

Housing Allowance (LHA). The LHA varies according to changes in market rents, 

the location of the property and its bedroom size. The threshold formula was 90% of 

LHA plus £40 and subject to a cap of £500 on Inner London and Outer South West 

London Broad Rental Market Areas (BRMA) and a cap of £375 on other BRMAs. 

From April 2017, the £40 was removed from the formula, the new threshold is 90% 

of January 2011 LHA and subject to a cap of £460 on Inner London and Outer 

South West London BRMA and a cap of £335 on the other BRMAs. PSL tenants 

living in a Universal Credit Implementation Area will have their rent threshold based 

on 100% of the April 2015 LHA. By October 2018, 10% of the Council's PSL 

tenants were subject to the April 2015 LHA.

B & B Rent Single/Family (Average per week)

£204.64 as at 

1st October 

2017

£215.20 as at 

1st October 

2018

na

Since April 2012, the B&B rent threshold has been based on the January 2011 

Local Housing Allowance (LHA). From April 2017, the B&B rent threshold will be 

based on the April 2015 LHA for benefit claims made through Universal Credit. The 

LHA varies according to changes in market rents, the location of the property and its 

bedroom size. This fee is the LHA threshold for one bedroom properties.

Page 3

P
age 75



Appendix 4

STREET TRADING CHARGES

LBHF STREET & MARKET TRADERS - Weekly charges - North End Road

1 day per week (Standard Stall) £20.75 £20.75 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

1 day per week (Extended) £30.10 £30.10 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

2 days per week (Standard) £28.00 £28.00 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

2 days per week (Extended) £42.55 £42.55 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

3 days per week (Standard) £43.60 £43.60 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

3 days per week (Extended) £62.30 £62.30 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

4 days per week (Standard) £55.00 £55.00 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

4 days per week (Extended) £82.00 £82.00 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

5 days per week (Standard) £69.55 £69.55 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

5 days per week (Extended) £101.75 £101.75 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

6 days per week (Standard) £85.10 £85.10 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

6 days per week (Extended) £122.50 £122.50 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

An additional charge of £10 per day will be payable for trading on Friday 

and/or Saturday
£10.00 £10.00 0.0%

North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

2 days per week for start-up businesses in North End Road Market £10.00 £10.00 0.0%
North End Road Market is exception to standard uplift, confirmed by Billy Seago 

following meeting with Councillors

Page 4

P
age 76



Appendix 4

Libraries and Archives Fees & Charges Exceptions

Fee Description
2018/19 Charge 

(£)

2019/20 Charge 

(£)

Proposed 

Variation (%)
Reason For Variation Not At Standard Rate

Photocopying - A4 black and white - self service £0.10 £0.10 0.0%

Photocopying - A3 black and white - self service £0.20 £0.20 0.0%

Photocopying - A4 black and white - assisted service £0.20 £0.20 0.0%

Photocopying - A3 black and white - assisted service £0.40 £0.40 0.0%

Photocopying - A4 colour - self service £0.80 £0.80 0.0%

Photocopying - A3 colour - self service £1.50 £1.50 0.0%

Photocopying - A4 colour - assisted £1.50 £1.50 0.0%

Photocopying - A3 colour - assisted £2.00 £2.00 0.0%

Miscellaneous Sales various various

Internet charges per half hour after first hour £0.50 £0.50 0.0%

Internet charges - 3 hour block booking £2.00 £2.00 0.0%

Printing from computers - A4 black and white - self service £0.10 £0.10 0.0%

Printing from computers - A3 black and white - self service £0.20 £0.20 0.0%

Printing from computers- A4 colour - self service £0.80 £0.80 0.0%

Printing from computers- A3 colour - self service £1.50 £1.50 0.0%

Printing from staff terminals £0.10 £0.10 0.0%

Memory stick £9.00 £9.00 0.0%

Overdue charges - books, CDs and spoken word formats (16-17 year olds) £0.10 £0.10 0.0%

Overdue charges - books, CDs and spoken word formats £0.25 £0.25 0.0%

DVDs & boxed sets per day £0.75 £0.75 0.0%

Learning pack/ language course £0.25 £0.25 0.0%

Charge for posting overdue notices £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

Requests - H&F, RBKC and WCC libraries £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

Lost / Damaged Charges various various

Lost membership cards - under 15 £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

Lost membership cards - over 15 £3.00 £3.00 0.0%

Compact discs £0.80 £0.80 0.0%

Spoken word formats £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

DVDs £1.50 £1.50 0.0%

DVD boxed sets £3.50 £3.50 0.0%

Learning packs/ language courses £2.50 £2.50 0.0%

Fax - within Uk £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

Fax - to Europe £1.50 £1.50 0.0%

Fax to North America £2.00 £2.00 0.0%

Fax to Australia £2.00 £2.00 0.0%

Fax elsewhere £4.00 £4.00 0.0%

Fax - incoming material £1.00 £1.00 0.0%

Community groups room hire during library hours (per hour) £17.50 £17.50 0.0%

Community groups room hire outside library hours (per hour) £55.00 £55.00 0.0%

Other groups room hire during library hours (per hour) £35.00 £35.00 0.0%

Other groups room hire outside library hours (per hour) £110.00 £110.00 0.0%

Other groups room hire during library hours (per day) N/A N/A

Weddings - Fulham - Monday to Thursday £350.00 £350.00 0.0%

Weddings - Fulham - Friday £450.00 £450.00 0.0%

Weddings - Fulham - Saturday to Sunday £550.00 £550.00 0.0%

Exhibition space - preparation day £70.00 £70.00 0.0%

Exhibition space - per day £130.00 £130.00 0.0%

Sale Items - guide prices - No VAT Charged - Withdrawn items Cost Cost

Page 5

P
age 77



Appendix 4

Residents' Services Fees and Charges 2019-20

SERVICE Fee Description 2018/19 Charge (£) 2019/20 Charge (£)
Proposed Variation 

(%)

Reason for exception to inflationary 

increase

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Location Fee 

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Mortuary
£282 plus £60 staff 

overtime

£282 plus £60 staff 

overtime
0.0%

No uplift

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Town Halls
£282 plus £60 staff 

overtime

£282 plus £60 staff 

overtime
0.0%

No uplift

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Schools 25% passing on fee 25% passing on fee 0.0% No uplift

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Fulham Palace 25% passing on fee 25% passing on fee 0.0% No uplift

FILMING/PHOTOGRAPHY Community Centres 25% passing on fee
£282 plus £60 staff 

overtime
0.0%

No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY COMMUNITY SAFETY

COMMUNITY SAFETY Motorcycle recovery - individual £50.00 £50.00 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Motorcycle recovery - insurance company £110.00 £110.00 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Return of Stray Dogs to Owners £25.00 £25.00 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Stray Dogs- Statutory Fee £25.00 £25.00 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Stray Dogs- Administration Fee £25.00 £25.00 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Stray Dogs- Kennelling (per day) £12.50 £12.50 0.0% No uplift

COMMUNITY SAFETY Vets Fees Variable Variable 0.0% No uplift

Neighbourhood Wardens Neighbourhood Wardens

Neighbourhood Wardens Neighbourhood Warden Patrols (per hour) £100.00 £100.00 0.0% No uplift

TRANSPORT TRANSPORT

TRANSPORT Parts Cost + 10.5% Cost + 10.5% 0.0% No uplift

TRANSPORT Fuel - Diesel / Petrol / LPG Cost + 8.5 to 10.5% Cost + 7.5 to 10.5% 0.0% No uplift

TRANSPORT Ad Hoc Vehicle Hire Cost + 10.5% Cost + 10.5% 0.0% No uplift

TRANSPORT Management and Administration Charge
Total Cost (excluding 

Fuel and NSEs) + 10.5%

Total Cost (excluding 

Fuel and NSEs) + 

10.5%

0.0%

No uplift

PARKING Parking Permits

PARKING Residents - Individual's first permit (6mths) £71.00 £71.00 0.0%

PARKING Residents - Individual's second permit (6mths) £260.00 £260.00 0.0%

PARKING Residents - Individual's first permit (Yearly) £119.00 £119.00 0.0%

PARKING Residents - Individual's second permit (Yearly) £497.00 £497.00 0.0%

PARKING Residents - Discounted permit charges (Green vehicles) £60.00 £60.00 0.0%

PARKING Business first permit (6mths) £464.00 £464.00 0.0%

PARKING Business second permit (6mths) £735.00 £735.00 0.0%

PARKING Business first permit (Yearly) £791.00 £791.00 0.0%

PARKING Business second permit (Yearly) £1,310.00 £1,310.00 0.0%

PARKING Doctors £125.00 £125.00 0.0%

PARKING Zone A £2.80 £2.80 0.0%

PARKING Zone A - Visitors £1.80 £1.80 0.0%

PARKING More Serious £130.00 £130.00 0.0%

PARKING Less Serious £80.00 £80.00 0.0%

PARKING Towaway £200.00 £200.00 0.0%

PARKING 1-5 Days £40.00 £40.00 0.0%

PARKING 6-42 Days £60.00 £60.00 0.0%

PARKING 43 days + £80.00 £80.00 0.0%

PARKING Third Party fees charged for valuation services £580.70 £580.70 0.0%

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Food Hygiene Rating Scheme

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme FHRS Revisits/Rescore £273.00 £273.00 0.0% No uplift

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Telephone Advice £75.00 £75.00 0.0% No uplift

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme Telephone advice/pre compliance check £259.00 £259.00 0.0% No uplift

Private Water Supplies Private Water Supplies

Private Water Supplies General Charges

Private Water Supplies Risk Assessment (for each assessment) £500.00 £500.00 0.0% Above inflation - statutory cap removed

Private Water Supplies Analysing a Sample

Private Water Supplies Regulation 10 - single and small supplies - non-optional parameters***** £25.00 £25.00 0.0% No uplift

Private Water Supplies Commercial and Large Supplies - taken during check monitoring £100.00 £100.00 0.0% No uplift

Private Water Supplies
Commercial and Large Supplies - taken during audit monitoring and monitoring under Regulation 11 

(radioactive substances) for all supplies   
£500.00 £500.00 0.0%

No uplift

Fees to be set in accordance with Parking 

Policy

Page 6

P
age 78



Appendix 4

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & MARRIAGES

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Civil Marriage/Civil Partnership/Naming Ceremonies/Vow Renewals (including rehearsals)

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Notices N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Notice of marriage/civil partnership £35.00 £35.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Notice of marriage/civil partnership (subject to Home Office referral) £47.00 £47.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Consideration of Divorce/Dissolution (outside of British Isles) by LRS £50.00 £50.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Consideration of Divorce/Dissolution (outside of British Isles) by GRO £75.00 £75.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Waiver (reduce 28 day notice period) £60.00 £60.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
RG's Licence £15.00 £15.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Conversion of a Civil Partnership into Marriage N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
At Register Office £45.00 £45.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Completing the declaration £27.00 £27.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Signing the declaration in a religious building registered for same sex couples £91.00 £91.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Register Office, Hammersmith Town Hall N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Monday - Thursday £46.00 £46.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Rose Room, Hammersmith Town Hall N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Fee for attendance at places of worship £86.00 £86.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Copy Certificates N/A N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Copy certificate from historical records - administration fee £5.00 £5.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Consideration of Space 17 £40.00 £40.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Consideration of Corrections by LRS £75.00 £75.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Consideration of Corrections by GRO £90.00 £90.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Cancellation & Booking Changes N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Non-refundable deposit per notice £35.00 £35.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Non-refundable deposit for ceremony bookings £100.00 £100.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
Amendment administration fee for ceremony bookings £35.00 £35.00 0.0%

Statutory fees

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
European Passport Return Service Fees N/A

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
European Passport Return Service (Weekday) £20.00 £20.00 0.0%

Suggested Home Office Fee

REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS, DEATHS & 

MARRIAGES
European Passport Return Service (Saturday) £30.00 £30.00 0.0%

Suggested Home Office Fee

Page 7

P
age 79



COST AND TREND DATA 1 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Base Budget 178.6 164.4 160.4 155.0 151.8

Contract & Pay Inflation 3.8 3.1 2.9 5.2 3.0

Growth 4.0 6.3 7.3 6.5 10.8

New Burdens 0.9 0.9

One-Off Contribution to 2.7 5.0 2.9 0.6 0.0

190.0 179.7 173.5 167.3 165.6

New Homes Bonus and Other 

Revenue Grants -10.6 -11.8 -12.7 -10.1 -15.2

Revenue Support Grant -47.8 -38.4 -29.5 0.0 0.0

Business rates -53.5 -57.1 -58.3 -80.4 -74.2

Council Tax Income -52.4 -53.9 -55.3 -56.7 -59.4

Adult Social Care Precept 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -1.2

One-Off Resources/Developer 

Contributions -1.9 -3.1 -3.0 -5.2 -5.3

Budget Gap Before Savings 23.8 15.4 14.7 14.9 10.3

Budget Gap Before Savings - Trend Data

P
age 80



COST AND TREND DATA 2 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

5 Year Savings & Growth by Department

Saving by Department

 2015/16  

Savings 

 2016/17  

Savings 

 2017/18  

Savings 

 2018/19  

Savings 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Savings 

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Children's Services 4.071 3.227 1.870 2.086 1.300

Corporate Services 2.762 3.175 2.909 0.300

Finance & Governance 1.600

Public Services Reform 0.350 2.000 2.000 0.800

Growth & Place 0.982 0.265 1.351 0.153 0.800

Residents' Services 5.864 2.819 0.832 1.963 2.400

Social Care 6.514 5.321 1.885 2.916 3.100

Council Wide 3.273 1.050 7.028 3.199 0.000

Total 23.816 15.857 14.966 15.226 10.300

Savings in Gross Resources 0.450 0.250 0.250 0.000

Net Savings 23.816 15.407 14.716 14.976 10.300

Growth by Department

 2015/16  

Growth 

 2016/17  

Growth 

 2017/18  

Growth 

 2018/19  

Growth 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Growth 

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Children's Services 1.392 3.164 0.739 1.803 3.300

Corporate Services 0.300 0.228 0.310 0.000

Finance & Governance 0.000

Public Services Reform 2.600

Growth & Place 0.130 0.230 1.356 0.100

Residents' Services 1.612 0.334 0.238 0.395 0.000

Social Care 0.599 1.475 4.413 1.249 3.600

Council Wide 1.140 1.648 1.409 1.200

Total 4.033 6.341 7.268 6.522 10.800

P
age 81



COST AND TREND DATA 3 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

5 Year Savings and Growth Catergotisation 

Savings by Category

 2015/16  

Savings 

 2016/17  

Savings 

 2017/18  

Savings 

 2018/19  

Savings 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Savings 

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Business Intelligence 0.670 0.624 0.625 0.410

Budget reduced in line with spend 0.335 0.165 1.900

Commercialisation 3.781 2.873 3.147 0.500

Estate rationalisation 2.554 0.510 0.128

Income 1.919 0.332 0.521 0.100

Outside investment secured (i.e. Section 106, NHS) 4.314 1.792 0.213 0.085

Prevention 1.302 2.560 0.626 1.608

Procurement / Commissioning 3.554 3.181 5.036 5.227 1.600

Service reconfiguration 2.882 3.290 2.724 3.066 4.100

Shared services 2.259

Staffing  / Productivity 1.750 0.931 2.202 0.870 2.200

Debt reduction and restructuring 0.750 1.050

Total 23.816 15.857 14.966 15.227 10.400

Growth by Category

 2015/16  

Growth 

 2016/17  

Growth 

 2017/18  

Growth 

 2018/19  

Growth 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Growth 

£'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Government related 0.900 3.351 0.650 0.175

Other public bodies/ New Grant 0.375 0.678 1.753 0.015

Increase in demand/demographic growth 0.489 0.486 1.390 1.663 6.300

Resident Priority 0.511 1.425 2.034 1.836 1.000

Budget pressure 1.758 0.401 0.441 1.584 3.400

Living Wage Pressures 1.249

Pension Triennial Valuation 1.000

Total 4.033 6.341 7.268 6.522 10.700

P
age 82



COST AND TREND DATA 4 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

 2018/19 

Controllable 

Budget 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Savings 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Savings 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Growth 

 2019/20 

Proposed 

Growth 

£'m £'m % £'m %

Children's Services 32.5              1.3 4% 3.3            10%

Corporate Services 4.7                0.3 6% -           0%

Finance & Governance 18.9              1.6 8% -           0%

Public Services Reform 26.9              0.8 3% 2.6            10%

Growth & Place 8.6                0.8 9% 0.1            1%

Residents' Services 50.1              2.4 5% -           0%

Social Care 46.1              3.1 7% 3.6            8%

Council Wide 1.2            

Total 10.3 10.8

The Controllable budget is expenditure less capital charges and internal recharges.

Adjustments are also made to exclude expenditure funded from specific grant or

where expenditure, such as on the freedom pass, is largely controlled by outside bodies.

Savings and Growth - Overview

P
age 83



COST AND TREND DATA 5 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Department

Forecast 

Outturn 

Variance

Potential Value 

of Action Plan 

Mitigations

Forecast 

Outturn 

Variance Net 

of Mitigations

Gross 

overspend 

(underspend)

Net overspend 

(underspend)

£m £m £m % %

Children’s Services 2.94 0.19 2.75 7.3% 6.8%

Corporate Services -0.14 0.00 -0.14 -34.0% -34.0%

Finance & Governance 0.45 0.20 0.25 16.2% 9.0%

Growth & Place -0.30 0.00 -0.30 -3.1% -3.1%

Public Services Reform 4.66 0.00 4.66 165.8% 165.8%

Residents’ Services 1.98 0.29 1.68 3.1% 2.7%

Controlled Parking Account* -1.02 0.00 -1.02 4.4% 4.4%

Social Care 1.23 1.23 0.00 2.4% 0.0%

Centrally Managed Budgets -0.38 0.00 -0.38 -1.9% -1.9%

Total 9.42 1.92 7.50 5.6% 4.4%

Adjustment for limiting use of the 

unallocated contingency to 50% and not 

distributing the contingency held for the 

2018/19 pay award.

-2.63 0.00 -2.63

Revised Overspend 6.79 1.92 4.88 4.0% 2.9%

Summary - 2018/19 Forecast Outturn at Month 6

P
age 84



COST AND TREND DATA 6 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Children's Services Trend Analysis 2019/20 

Table 1

National changes in the number of child protection enquiries, children subject to a child protection plan and 

looked-after children, since 2009/10

Extracted from CIPFA Performance Tracker 2018. This shows the national picture which reflects the growth in 

demand experienced by the LBHF Children's Services department.

Table 2

LBHF children in care numbers from March 2010 to March 2018 

As at 31st Dec 2018 Children in care have increased from 230 to 246 

Figure 1

Graph showing the FTE and 2018-19 full year spend forecast for each placement type

The arrows illustrate the savings targets which aim to move placements away from those such as P&V Residential 

(Private and Voluntary) towards In-house provision which have lower unit costs. Such placement changes will reduce 

costs but also aim to deliver positive outcomes for the service users.

31st March 2010 31st March 2011 31st March 2012 31st March 2013 31st March 2014 31st March 2015 31st March 2016 31st March 2017 31st March 2018

LBHF 260 251 225 236 200 185 198 215 230

260
251

225
236

200
185

198
215

230

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Children in care numbers by borough 31st March 2010 to 2018

Page 85



COST AND TREND DATA 7 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

LBHF - Adult Social Care - Cost and Trend Analysis 

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Source

2015-16 Full 

Year

2016-17 Full 

Year

2017-18 

Full Year

2018-19 

Projection 

(as of 

October 

2018)

2019-20 

Estimate Notes and Comments

Delivery Cost

Total Spend

Adult Social 

Care NHS 

Finance Return £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

13,957

8,620

There has been a net decrease in clients from 475 in 17/18 to 463 in 18/19. 

This has led to a drop in forecast despite the average package cost 

increasing by 6.2%. We anticipate increases in numbers and costs for 19/20.

Placements ASC-FR 25,565 25,372 26,029 23,819 24,285 There was a large drop in spend in 2018/19 and this is due to a large 
Total 41,097 44,811 47,611 45,551 46,862

Unit Cost of Activity

17.34

£347

934

Client Numbers

1406

481 2019/20 projection based on the average increase over the previous 3 years

516

Home Care Package Intensity

0- 7 hours per week Mosaic 487 489 487 523 534

7 - 14 hours per week Mosaic 316 343 351 371 379

14- 28 hours per week Mosaic 304 312 316 325 332

28+ hours per week Mosaic 125 142 145 157 160

Total number of Clients 1232 1286 1299 1376 1406

500 514

Projection based on current number of clients in 2018/19. No growth in 

clients has been factored in as placement numbers are projected to remain 

relatively stable. Placements Mosaic 569 511

1299 1376 2019/20 projection based on the average increase over the previous 3 years

Direct Payment Mosaic 371 408 475 463

Home Care Mosaic 1232 1286

Unit cost per week - based on 2018/19 clients. The estimate for 19/20 

assumes a 1.45% inflationary increase.

Placements ASC-FR 848 1017 896 907

Unit cost per week - costs for 19/20 are projected based on current known 

clients as at October 2018 and then adjusted for the Budgeted percentage 

increase in inflation of 3.00%.

Direct Payments ASC-FR 338 300 £322 £342

The spend continues to increase year on year due to several factors 

including a 1% rate increase and London Living Wage (LLW) being paid on 

24 hr care packages. However the average package size has increased 

from £9.6k p.a. in 17/18 to £10.7k in 18/19.

Home Care ASC-FR 13.61 15.39 16.92 17.09

Unit cost per hour - based on current clients in 2018/19 as the block and spot 

provider rate have increased. 2019/20 estimate is based on 18/19 average 

cost plus 1.45% inflation.

13,342

Direct Payment ASC-FR 7,217 7,889 8,604 8,390

Home Care ASC-FR 8,315 11,550 12,978

P
age 86



COST AND TREND DATA 8 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

ASC Total Spend

Home Care Direct Payment Placements

11550

12978

13342

13957

1286

1299

1376

1406

0 2000 4000 6000 8000 10000 12000 14000

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Home Care Spend and Client Numbers

Home Care Client Numbers Home Care Total Spend

1286

1299

1376

1406

408

475

463

481

511

500

514

516

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

ASC Client Numbers

Home Care Direct Payment Placements

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0- 7 hours per week 7 - 14 hours per week 14- 28 hours per week 28+ hours per week

C
lie

n
t 

N
u

m
b

er
s

Home Care Intensity

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

P
age 87



COST AND TREND DATA 9 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Customer services trend data

Residents' Services (H&F Direct) Trend Analysis

My Account Transactions Telephone calls made to contact centre in Rochdale

Volume of 

Transaction

Cost per 

Transaction

Volume of 

Calls

Cost per 

Call

2015/16 466,965 £0.56 2015/16 139,800 £2.72

2016/17 288,998 £0.90 2016/17 136,055 £3.52

2017/18 258,952 £0.85 2017/18 128,143 £3.39

2017/18* 227,248 £1.14 2018/19* 128,951 £3.72

*NB Data for 2018/19 is based on April to December volumes *NB Data for 2018/19 is based on April to December volumes

Business Rates Collection Concessionary Fares Payments

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

(target) (target) (target) £k £k £k £k £k

98.24% 98.61% 98.70% 98.70% 98.70% 9,694 9,602 9,340 9,197 9,118

Council Tax Collection Revenues and Benefits Running Costs

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

(forecast) (target) (target) £k £k £k £k £k

96.33% 96.98% 97.00% 97.50% 97.50% 4,953 4,977 4,143 3,406 3,383

2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

2016/17

P
age 88



COST AND TREND DATA 10 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Corporate Services IT Trend Data

IT Expenditure

15/16 

Expenditure

16/17 

Expenditure

17/18 

Expenditure

18/19 

Forecast

19/20 

Forecast

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Salaries 391 1,855 4,263 4,449 4,627

Contract Spend 16,042 13,439 10,538 10,934 9,948

Project Spend 1,800 3,500 1,300 6,985 151

Total Spend 18,233 18,794 16,101 22,368 14,726

IT Spend Chart

Type of Spend

Salary expenditure has increased since 16/17 as the IT service was moved back in-house to the Council from the 

Hammersmith and Fulham Bridge Partnership (HFBP)

Contract spend has decreased as the service has replaced its current end of life desktop solution and implemented 

a desktop strategy which supports its ambition for better performance, agile working and delivers significant savings.

As a result of the desktop strategy, project spend has increased to purchase new equipment, plus to develop and 

improve infrastructure.

1855

4263 4449 4627

13439

10538 10934
9948

3500

1300

6985

151

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

£000's £000's £000's £000's

16/17 Expenditure 17/18 Expenditure 18/19 Forecast 19/20 Forecast

IT Services Gross Expenditure 16/17 - 19/20

Salaries

Contract Spend

Project Spend

P
age 89



COST AND TREND DATA 11 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Environmental Services Unit Cost Information

Actual Actual Estimate Estimate

Unit

Measure

Grounds Maintenance

Unit Costs:

Parks Grounds Maintenance Cost - Per Hectare £ 16,752 18,580 18,885 19,972 Inflation increases (mainly staff related - low pay addressed)  

Cemeteries Grounds Maintenance Cost - Per Hectare £ 16,752 17,245 17,434 18,433 Inflation increases (mainly staff related - low pay addressed)  

Sports/Leisure Centres Unit Cost Data

Net Cost Per Sports/Leisure Centre Visit £ 0.64 0.06 0.01 0.02 Contract Re-tender - New contract w.e.f.  01 .04.2019 - Outcome awaited.

Waste & Street Cleansing Unit Cost Data

Refuse Collection Cost - Per Domestic Dwelling £ 47.37 47.51 48.26 51.02
Forecasted increase in unit costs in 2019-20 as a result high inflation on Serco 

contract.

Waste Disposal

General Waste tonnages collected per annum tonnes 60,602 58,479 57,899 56,741
Year on year reduction in General waste tonnages as a result of initiatives which 

should continue in 2019-20.

Recyclate tonnages collected per annum tonnes 11,521 11,305 11,259 11,486

Current recycling rate is about 16%, the aim is to increase recycling rate by 2% 

year on year  because of the benefits to the environment and the recuced  

financial costs this brings .  

Building Control 72,123 69,784 69,157 68,227

Number of chargeable jobs No. 664 632 556 556

On the current trends we expect a 10-15% drop in our chargeable jobs in 2018-

19. This is primarily due to the current recession in the construction industry as a 

result of the uncertainties surrounding Brexit and the increased competition from 

the private approved inspectors and the reduction in house transactions going 

through. However in the next financial year we expect to get high value projects 

(new and existing high rise blocks as only local authority building control will be 

able to deal with these more complex buildings) due to legislative changes 

arising from Dame Judith Hackitt recommendation.

Public Lighting

Public lighting cost - Per Column £

Highways Maintenance

Carriageway maintenance cost - Per KM £ 4,616 3,766 7,893 5,506

224 miles of carriageway. Budget was underspent in 15/16, 16/17 and 17/18. Full 

spend assumed in 18/19 including full spend of carried forward and in year 

budget, 19/20 assumes in year budget only

Footways

Footway maintenance cost - Per KM £ 3,856 3,922 4,877 3,885

448 miles of footway. Budget was underspent in 15/16, 16/17 and 17/18. Full 

spend assumed in 18/19 including full spend of carried forward and in year 

budget, 19/20 assumes in year budget only

177 184 216 68
Cost per column, 8,743 columns. 16/17, 17/18 revised to include LED 

Streetlighting project which should complete in 18/19

2019-20 NotesService Area 2018-192016-17 2017-18

P
age 90



COST AND TREND DATA 12 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Another significant pressure on the service, is the new requirement within the Homelessness Reduction Act, to carry out individual 

Personal Housing Plans with each eligible person who is either homeless or threatened with homelessness. This is a completely 

new duty, so direct comparisons cannot be made with previous years. However, these more tailored plans, created around the 

unique requirements of each person are taking an average of 2 hours each. (This length of time is being commonly reported across 

London). Even with a third of cases failing to engage (which again is comparable with other London authorities), this represents an 

increase of 4.3 hours of work per day.

The service is focussing on tightly managing its acceptance duty. Cost are being managed and the risk of further cost pressures is 

being monitored and managed closely as part of a package of measures within the Temporary Accommodation strategy.

Planning income in recent years has fluctuated between £3.5m (2016/17), £3.1m (2017/18) and is currently forecast to reach 

£3.7m in 2018/19.

The inherent volatility of planning income means it is difficult to predict future income due to several factors including:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

• Changes to the statutory charging schedule

• Economic factors such as the impact on planning activity of Brexit

• Changes in legislation e.g. permitted development rights, Planning Performance Agreement regulation

• Changes to pre-application charging fees and Planning Performance Agreement templates

• Local and wider market conditions

• Availability of development sites in the borough

• Developers by-passing the pre-application process as it is not compulsory

• Reduced developer confidence in the service through reduced staffing - may be less likely to fund Planning Performance 

Agreements

• Government schemes to encourage house building, including grant schemes

• Developers’ responding to current and pipeline housing supply in borough (they don’t want to flood the local market)

•  Adverse weather conditions                                                                                                                                                                

Long Term Trends: 

The Temporary Accommodation service faces a long-term trend of: 

• rising rents, 

• constraints on income collection because of Welfare Reform 

• increases in demand from homeless families. 

The number of households in Temporary Accommodation is increasing annually (1,214 at April 16; 1,324 at April 17; 1,444 at April 

18). The current number of households in Temporary Accommodation is 1,419 and this represents a rise of over 17% since April 

2016 at a time when the London average has increased by only 5%. TA numbers are projected to increase to 1,449 at April 19; 

1,250 at April 20 and 1,300 at April 21. 

Since the Homelessness Reduction Act came into effect in April 2018, there has been a significant increase in homelessness 

approaches and caseloads. 694 new Part 7 homeless applications were made between April 18 and November 18, an average of 

87 per month, which is a slight increase on the 77 being reported up to October. This compares to 253 for April 17 to November 17, 

an average per month of 32 and an average of only 27 per month in the last quarter of 2017/18. This is an increase of 174% when 

compared to the same period last year.

The number of housing enquiries has also more than doubled (128% increase) when April to November 18 are compared with the 

same period in 2017, with the average now being 237 approaches per month, compared with 104 per month for the same period 

last year. This covers unique visits to Assessment and Prevention for housing related advice and assistance, either in person, by 

phone or by email. It includes instances where a homeless application being made, as well as those where just advice was 

provided. . This pattern has been repeated across all West London Authorities since the HRA began, with all seven reporting 

October as being their busiest ever month. This coincides with the Duty to Refer being introduced in October, which accounted for 

66 new cases*.

[*November stats for Duty to Refer hadn't been compiled at the time of writing]

Growth and Place Trend Analysis

Page 91



COST AND TREND DATA 13 OF 13 APPENDIX  5

Libraries Trend Data

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19*

Visits to libraries          1,021,985 988,803 1,007,211

Volunteers hours                  4,012          3731 2,912

Event Attendance                72,594 71,681 104,512

Cost Per Visits (£) 3.11 2.89 2.85

* The 9 month figures (April - December) have been pro-rated for the full year

P
age 92



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contacts 
Policy and Accountability Committee

30/01/2019

REFUSE, RECYCLING AND STREET CLEANSING CONTRACT OVERVIEW

Report of the Strategic Director for Social Care & Public Services Reform
Open Report

Classification: For review and comment
Key Decision: No

Consultation:
Programme Director, Procurement and Contracts and Street Czar

Wards Affected: 
All

Accountable Director: Director for Environment, Leisure & Residents 
Services

Report Author:
Lesley Gates, Waste Contract Manager

Contact Details:
Lesley.Gates@lbhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Waste management in LBHF encompasses, waste collection and street 
cleansing, recycling, clinical waste, commercial waste & waste disposal.
These services are managed through Resident Services except for the Serco 
contract which is managed through procurement. This report relates to waste 
collection and street cleansing.

1.1. These services provide high-profile front-line services to residents, 
businesses and visitors to the borough.  The efficiency and effectiveness with 
which they are delivered impacts on residents’ quality of life, and their 
perception of the council’s overall performance and in particular, our ability to 
deliver a “cleaner, greener” borough.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Hammersmith & Fulham commenced a 7-year contract with Serco PLC in 
June 2008, (with the provision of extending for a further 7 years), to deliver 

Page 93

Agenda Item 5



street cleansing, commercial and domestic waste, and recycling collections., 
The extension was brought forward a year from 2014 to 2021 in order to align 
the end of the waste contract with that in The Royal Borough of Kensington 
and Chelsea; for a possible future joint procurement.

2.2 The contract was designed to enhance value for money and improve service 
quality, representing a significant improvement over previously existing 
services.  In the initial stages of the contract, Serco provided additional one-off 
resources for street cleansing improvements and investment in relation to 
littering and fly tipping.  As the contract developed, Serco implemented a 
same-day waste collection and cleansing service and for street cleansing, 
enabling the council to be one of the top five cleanest boroughs in London.

2.3 Numerous changes have occurred throughout the contract lifecycle including 
a reduced client function, changing borough requirements due to the 
economic climate, the demands from an increasing population and 
infrastructure development and a need for innovation. The contract has 
become out-dated and needs overhauling to meet the current requirements of 
the Council. This can be achieved through a reprocurement exercise when the 
contract concludes in 20/21.

3. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

3.1 Summary of Contractual Services 
3.1.1 Waste Collections

 
 The collection of domestic waste from approximately 80,000 residential 

properties 
 The collection of trade waste from approximately 2,600 businesses
 Over 396,000 individual collections are made each month.  The level of 

missed collections averages 688 per month which equates to 0.04% of all 
collections made

 Bulky waste service (just under 6000 kerbside bulky collections were made 
in 2017/18)

 Numerous recycling collections such as WEEE, batteries and lightbulb 
collections

 Delivery of smart sacks and commercial sacks.
 

Refuse & Recycling Key Service standards
 

 Collection of missed collections in 24 hours
 Replace all bin lids at the time of collection
 Empty contents leaving no residue providing the waste and recycling is 

suitably contained
 Return bins to the original place where they were left

Page 94



 Close all doors, gates and bin-chutes after collection
 Clean spillage arising from collections
 Collection times should not coincide with the start, finish and break times 

at educational establishments
 

3.1.2 Street Cleansing
 

220 km of carriageway and 500 km of footway are cleansed within the 
borough.  About 1000 litter bins are emptied regularly and fly tips removed of 
which almost 17000 were reported last year (compared to around 4000 in 
2008).  In addition, as part of the borough’s clear all policy, Serco proactively 
remove unreported fly tips, dog fouling and litter.  The streets in Hammersmith 
& Fulham are some of the cleanest in London with over 96% of streets being 
kept to an acceptable standard of cleanliness.
 
A summary of cleansing services includes:
 
 24/7 sweeping of pavements in the 3 main town centres
 16-hour day cleansing in secondary shopping areas
 Same day refuse and recycling/cleansing on residential roads
 Cleaning and sweeping of open spaces
 Daily servicing of North End Road Market
 Emptying of all litterbins
 Provide emergency response service
 Weed treatment
 Leaf collection
 Winter gritting

Street Cleansing Key Service standards
 
 Achieve a high standard of cleanliness after each cleanse
 Remove reported flytips within 48 hours
 Empty litterbins if >80% full
 Remove reported dog fouling within 2 hours
 Remove reported flyposting boards within 24 hours
 To leave contractor bags in designated locations only
 Attend emergency responses within one hour

When the contract was procured in 2008 the Council created detailed 
specifications of operational requirements such as staff numbers and vehicle 
requirements.  It then laid down a set of standards to be achieved, this has 
caused issues between Serco and the Council as to achieving those 

Page 95



standards with the contractual operational requirements.  This misalignment 
of operational requirements and contract standards has caused issues with 
controlling the delivery of the contract.

3.2 Contract Monitoring

3.2.1 The contract was previously managed by a larger client team than in place at 
present to drive improvements through monitoring and applying the remedy 
and default provision.  These provisions are to ensure when standards fall 
below the required levels these are addressed and rectified.

3.2.2 The Remedy and Default provisions of the contract allow for up to 200 
rectification notices to be issued in any 4-week period before there is any 
financial impact on the contractor.  In retrospect, this is now considered to be 
too high a level to effect significant change in contractor performance, 
although it should be noted that a more robust default system could have led 
to a higher contract price. 

3.2.3 Following the need for council efficiencies from 2010, the client monitoring 
team has been reduced, and currently consists of three posts, it is proving 
difficult to maintain an effective punitive system along with day to day 
operational activities and general contract maintenance and management.

3.2.4 There is one performance mechanism, the measurement of NI 195, which is 
financially linked, however, following the payment of £29,000 to Serco, the 
use of the payment mechanism was stopped in 2015 which has been to the 
Council’s advantage.

3.3 Current KPI Performance

3.3.1 Within the contract documentation, the Council set out the aspiration to be 
working towards the upper quartile performance for cleanliness and recycling 
rates in London. Current performance for this key performance indicator is 
provided in the table below.  The customer service satisfaction indicator was 
removed as Corporate satisfaction surveys are no longer carried out.

KPI
 

Performance 
20017/18

Performance 
2018/19 (Q2)

NI 195
Cleanliness
 

4.06% 2.63%

NI192 
Recycling rate
 

23.70%
 

23.73%*               

*estimated figure

The current recycling rate achieved across the borough is 21.63%

Page 96



3.4 Planned Contract Improvements

To progress change over the remaining life of the contract, the following 
approaches are planned:

 Serco to deliver clear and transparent Open Book accounting 
 Establish KPIs and an effective default and rectification framework  
 Agree a number of contractual mechanisms which will clarify the resource, 

financial model and processes to allow us to vary these and fully take any 
associated benefits

 A robust and well-resourced client side monitoring and management 
system together with a clear escalation process

 To be the greenest borough we will need to collect food and green waste, 
increase recycling, reduce contamination and put greater emphasis on 
waste minimisation campaigns 

 We will reintroduce the Improvement and Efficiency Board to see which of 
these and other ideas to improve environmental and financial 
performance can be brought forward

 
A new managing director started with Serco Local Government in January 
2019 and it is acknowledged that Serco's current financial reporting systems 
were not being properly applied and sufficiently transparent.  LBHF are 
engaging to a greater extent with Serco senior management to ensure service 
improvements are achieved through the tail end of the contract to 2021.  This 
is when a new procurement of a service contract will be completed.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. Description of
Background Papers

Name and contact 
details of responsible 
officer

Department/
Location

Contract documentation for 
Waste Collection, Recycling 
and Street Cleansing 
Services
 

Lesley Gates Public Service 
Reform

LIST OF APPENDICES

(Please submit appendices with the main report. Appendices should be numbered 
clearly and consecutively on the top right hand corner of the page, i.e. Appendix 1, 

Page 97



Appendix 2, etc. There should be a clear reference to the appendix in the body of the 
report.)

Page 98



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

WORK PROGRAMME 2018 - 19 

Topic Officer Request 
Made

Meeting 
Date

Section 106 Update Report Jo Rowlands January 
2018

November 
2018

Open Facilitated Session - To look at 
what are the five key finance issues 
facing the Council over the medium to 
long term and what can we do to meet 
such challenges. 

Erik 
Hohenstein

July 2018 September 
2018

‘Ruthlessly Financially Efficient’ report Hitesh 
Jolapara

July 2018 November 
2018

Report on the Council’s strategy on 
Asset Back Securities

Hitesh 
Jolapara

July 2018 Withdrawn

Staff and agency costs including a 
breakdown of front line vs non-front-line 
staff.

Mark 
Grimley

July 2018 November 
2018

Staffing budget Mark 
Grimley

July 2018 November 
2018

Transition to Hampshire IBC Mark 
Grimley

July 2018 November 
2018

January 2019 Agenda

Council’s Budget Hitesh 
Jolapara

November 
2018

January 
2019

Contract Management – Performance, 
governance, and monitoring. Using a 
live contract as a case study.

Lisa 
Redfern/
Sharon Lea

 July 2018 January 
2019

SERCO, not the whole contract but the 
main terms, break clauses, 
performance indicators etc.

Lisa 
Redfern/
Sharon Lea

Nov 2018 January 
2019

February 2019 Agenda

Issue Responsible 
Officer

Request 
Made

Using our estate more economically Jo Rowlands July 2018

External funding including grant funding, bid writing and 
other Income sources
Commercial Income

Hitesh 
Jolapara

July and 
November 
2018

Financing our economy – High street renewal, 
understanding inward investment, business rates.

Sharon Lea/ 
Jo Rowlands

July 2018

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Commercialisation – including joint ventures, trading 
companies etc.

Lisa Redfern July 2018
2018

March 2019 agenda

Capital Programme – Monitoring the King street 
regeneration budget/project management

Jo Rowland January 
2019

Financial control in adults - sign off processes, 
demonstrating grip/ control including monitoring, covering 
both large and small scale spend.

Lisa Redfern November 
2018

Lesson learnt on from savings delivered and the 
consequences – how delivery was monitored, any 
unintended consequences/ costs elsewhere (e.g. look at 
last 3 years’ savings and mention improvements to 
process)

Hitesh 
Jolapara

July 2018

Closedown report on Hampshire IBC Mark Grimley November 
2018

Ways of working linking IT and new offices 

To combine Work styles and patterns and IT Desktop 
Strategy

Mark Grimley 
and Veronica 
Barella

July 2018

July 2019 agenda

Section 106 Update Report 

 Future receipts vs Committed funds update
 Update on earmarked funds
 Report on s106 community benefits 
 Update on s106 projects over £1 million

Jo Rowlands/
Joanne 
Woodward

November 
2018

Summer 2019

Mitie repairs in house, what’s drove the decision, what was 
the previous spend, what is the future anticipated spend, 
what financial controls are in place etc.

Jo Rowland November 
2018

Unallocated

IT – including major contracts and how a modern 
council can use IT to engage / interface with residents. 
IT would be a good area to encourage residents with 
expert knowledge to inform our strategy.

Veronica 
Barella

September 2018

Page 100



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Lessons learned on major issues from other Council’s. Relevant 
Service 
Directors

September 2018

Longer term financial planning (10+ years) and 
investment strategies.

Hitesh 
Jolapara

September 2018

Developing an operating model for the organisation. September 2018
Ideas on how to involve the public in setting the budget 
and prioritising spend

Hitesh November 2018

A large capital project to be brought to the committee for 
scrutiny.

Service 
Director 

November 2018

 How the Council will reduce staffing by 25% over 5 
years.

 Workforce retention piece – ensuring a stable and 
reliable workforce.

 A report back on staff motivation levels.

Mark 
Grimley

November 2018

Page 101


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 2019 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
	App 1 FCRC Savings and growth 220119
	Appendix 2 Risks 210119
	App 3 EIA_MS
	App 4 Fees and Charges Exceptions 221920
	Appendix 5 - Budget Data 220119

	5 REFUSE, RECYCLING AND STREET CLEANSING CONTRACT OVERVIEW
	6 Committee Work Programme

